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A mother with her daughter.

A corporation with its clients. 

Products with markets.

...people, products 
& places everyday.





Behind every connection there’s 
a team of 750 world-class 
aviation professionals, creating, 
installing and working with 
systems and technologies, which 
deliver people and goods to the 
places they need to be - safely. 

Together, Airways and our partners 
are making your world possible.



OUR MISSION
We work with our customers to get aircraft and their 
passengers where they want to go safely and effi ciently. 
We draw on our teamwork and expertise to grow the value 
of our business.

OUR VALUES
We are safe.
We value each other.
We are good at what we do.

OUR VISION
To be a key player in 
Global Air Navigation Services.



1,149,313
Total Movements
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In 2009/10, Airways had another strong year 

in terms of safety, fi nancial performance and 

operations. Safety incidents were at a 10 year 

low and importantly, the safety culture within 

the organisation remains strong, supported 

by our Just Culture approach to incident 

reporting and investigation. As further proof of 

our promise to our customers, “we make your 

world possible”, we had an average of one 

hour over the entire year when critical systems 

were not available. 

2009/10 was the fi rst year in which all of 

the shareholder value created came from 

the growth business. The domestic business 

Ashley Smout, CEO

Con Anastasiou, Chairman 

achieved its cost of capital, following a 

4.15% price increase in July 2009 and the 

implementation of a variety of cost-saving 

initiatives throughout the year. This result 

confi rms the model which sees the ‘self-

regulated’ domestic business earning the cost 

of capital (EVA=0) and the growth business 

generating positive EVA – thus increasing 

shareholder value. 

The effect of the global economic crisis is 

well-documented and its impact has been 

keenly felt in the aviation industry. On the 

back of 2008/09’s fl uctuating fuel prices, low 

yields and swine fl u pandemic, came broken 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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consumer confi dence, operator uncertainty and a signifi cant drop in 

demand for cargo capacity as consumers the world over tightened their 

belts. In this context, the fact that Airways was able to deliver both the 

fi nancial and operational results it did for the 2009/10 fi nancial year, 

is extremely pleasing.

Airways business, and our reputation, relies on an absolute commitment 

to safety: it is at the heart of what we do. Of the more than 500,000 

IFR air traffi c movements recorded in New Zealand during the year, we 

recorded just 16 incidents where required separation standards were not 

met. In terms of systems availability, we achieved 99.99% across the 

entire network, further embedding our proud record of delivering safe, 

secure and uninterrupted services to our customers, the airlines, and to 

our community, the people of New Zealand. 

Airways ended the 2009/10 financial year with an underlying Group 

Net Operating Profit after Tax of $5.1 million (2008/09 $4.5 million) 

on revenues of $145 million. This represents a return on equity of 

8.3% compared to an average over the 1999 - 2008 period of 19%. 

Given that the aviation industry lost US$10 billion in 2009, Airways 

2009/10 result is a testament to the speed and effort with which we 

responded to the economic crisis. 

Through proactive management and a wide range of cost saving 

measures, the performance of the domestic business improved well 

beyond initial projections. Indications at the start of the 2009/10 year 

were that we would be facing a $1 million defi cit in revenue. 

In anticipation of this, Airways introduced the ‘Weathering the Storm’ 

initiative, a whole-of-business approach which scrutinized every aspect 

of our expenditure, called for staff to submit cost-saving ideas, imposed 

a salary freeze on all management positions and locked in future 

productivity gains. The results were a tangible $2 million in savings, 

highlighting the ability of the company to effectively and quickly adjust its 

business model in response to changed economic circumstances. This 

demonstrates a strength of culture and attitude which strongly infl uenced 

and underpinned that performance.

As well as impacting our fi nancial performance, the current economic 

environment has put our customer relationships to their severest test yet. 

Whilst we worked hard to adapt our business to refl ect a lower revenue 

base, the cost recovery model which underpins Airways business meant 

we had little option but to raise our prices to our commercial airline and 

General Aviation customers, at a time when they could ill-afford it. After 

much consultation, it was agreed that in order to support the airlines’ 

recovery, Airways would stagger its price increase over a two-year period. 

The aviation industry looks to be improving from the extreme lows of the 

past 18 months, however the recovery is in its early stages and the world 

economy remains fragile. Aircraft movements in New Zealand are not 

expected to return to the peak levels of 2007 until 2013, which means 

the cost control measures already in place must be supported with further 

cost-savings and value-add initiatives in the coming year. In parallel with 

this we are continuing work on a new commercial model with the Board 

of Airline Representatives of New Zealand (BARNZ) and the International 

Air Transport Association (IATA), to reduce the need for further price 

increases should a decline in air traffi c occur.

Complementing our role as a founding member of the international 

ASPIRE Partnership, Airways has established and refi ned a number of 

initiatives to help our domestic customers fl y the most effi cient routes and 

achieve the best on-time performance for their customers, and in doing 

so, realise fuel savings and emissions reductions. The sum total of savings 

from Airways value-add products and services is in the tens of millions of 

dollars and many thousands of tonnes in reduced emissions. International 

interest in initiatives like the Collaborative Arrivals Manager (CAM) and 

Required Navigation Performance (both of which are featured later in this 

report) is growing, as is Airways reputation for challenging the status quo 

as we strive to deliver safe, consistent and sustainable outcomes. 

In our targetted international markets, Airways continues to grow its 

reputation as one of the world’s most respected Air Navigation Service 

Providers (ANSPs). We have recently completed site acceptance 

of the Flight-Yield™ billing system in China. This has been a very 

complex project which takes data from over five Flight Information 

Regions, 43 Air Traffic Control Centres and 150 airports in China, and 

produces invoices from a single system. Given that Beijing airport is 

now officially the second busiest international airport in the world, this 

installation is one of which we can be justifiably proud of.
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Our strategic priorities are outlined in detail in our Statement of Corporate Intent.

In brief, our focus for the coming year will be:

 » to remain responsive to the economic environment by adjusting our cost base without com- 

 promising our ability to deliver a safe and effi cient service in the short term; and to be able to  

 react appropriately as the global economy recovers in the medium term.

 » to enhance the pricing strategy negotiated with BARNZ by expansion to a longer-term-value  

 based proposition.

 » to remain prepared for the future by delivering on the range of opportunities contained in the  

 Vision 2015 programme; with a focus on ‘on time’ performance, fuel savings and emissions  

 reductions.

 »  to deliver sustainable and profi table growth through a strategic focus on Airways core   

 competencies of ATC training and ANS systems. 

LOOKING FORWARD

We grew our Training business signifi cantly in 

2009/10, with important contracts in South 

Africa and Saudi Arabia contributing to a 

fi ve-fold increase in revenue over 2008/09. 

As a result we will be increasing the size of 

our Christchurch facility to accommodate an 

increase in student numbers. These training 

contracts will have important fl ow-on benefi ts 

for Christchurch as a whole.

Airways established a formal partnership 

with Airservices Australia in the latter part of 

2009 to look at ways to reduce costs and 

improve interoperability for the benefi t of 

airline customers. Airservices and Airways are 

considered world leaders in air navigation 

services; we achieve great things in our own 

right, so it follows that by working together we 

will be able to deliver even more value. We 

have a number of projects under evaluation, 

and we are in the process of exchanging key 

staff to enable a better understanding our 

respective business culture and processes.

Our continued focus on leadership development 

has led to improved results in our 2010 People 

Survey. This is particularly pleasing given that 

the survey took place against a backdrop of 

cost-cutting and resource reviews. We participate 

in a national survey to benchmark our workplace 

culture and recent results show that our target of 

being one of New Zealand’s ‘Best Places to Work’ 

is within reach.

The year has not been without human resource 

issues. For many months Airways grappled with 

the impact of the new Rest Breaks legislation 

on our ability to deliver uninterrupted service at 

some of our regional locations. A decision on 

possible changes to the legislation is pending. 

Finally, the opening of the new Christchurch 

Control Tower in September 2009. This was 

a very proud moment for Airways and for the 

many staff involved in its design, construction 

and operation. It seems ironic that almost 

12 months to the day, the tower was put to 

its severest test during the 7.1 magnitude 

earthquake that struck Canterbury in the early 

hours of September 4. So whilst the tower 

stands as a beacon of welcome to the many 

thousands of visitors who fl y into Christchurch 

every year and is an iconic structure that has 

been embraced by our community, it is also 

now a symbol of strength and integrity.

Con Anastasiou

Chairman
Ashley Smout

Chief Executive Offi cer
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Of the 1,149,313 air traffi c movements last year, there were just 16 
where required separation standards were not met. This is a 45% 
reduction in incidents over the previous year. Airways contribution to 
fl ight safety and effi ciency is amongst the very best in the world.

reduction in safety incidents45%

Ensuring safe 
connections.
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2009/10 has seen a dramatic reduction in separation incidents - of the 

1,149,313 air traffi c movements, there were just 16 where required 

separation standards were not met. This equates to a 45% reduction 

over the previous year, where there were 31 recorded incidents from 

a marginally larger number of movements (1,168, 588). This change 

has been supported by a number of factors, including the release of the 

Strategic Safety Plan which has supported a steady shift from tactical 

controlling towards a stronger strategic approach. Many years of research 

undertaken into aviation, transport, systems and general workplace safety 

has shown culture to be one of the single biggest factors infl uencing 

safety outcomes.

In 2009/10 the Safety Offi ce was re-structured to ensure dedicated 

resources were made available to Main Trunk, the regions and military; 

further supporting the development of a strong rapport between safety 

staff and frontline operations. There is now a dedicated focus on safety 

promotion and a change in approach to safety investigation and reporting 

– with a greater focus on causal factors rather than symptoms. 

2009/10 saw the launch of our organisation-wide Risk Management 

Improvement Process (ARMED). Designed to complement our more 

structured and coordinated approach, ARMED is an auditable process 

that has introduced ‘fresh thinking’ and new processes around managing, 

reporting and analysing risk at Airways. Protecting our shareholders from 

loss of value - whether economic or to our reputation - is vital to our 

business viability. ARMED is about future- proofi ng our business.

LOOKING AHEAD:

 » Our prime safety objective is to maintain our record of no aircraft   

 accidents attributable to an ANS failure. 

 » Our operational safety is built on an open and honest incident   

 reporting culture, and continual improvement in procedures and  

 technology to reduce risks. The high reliability and availability of  

 systems, and continued investment in the replacement and

 upgrading of these systems, is a priority for Airways.

 » We will continue to improve our safety, risk and quality management

 systems, to provide better visibility of existing and new risks and how

 they need to be controlled across the organisation. 

“The very nature of the business we’re in means safety is our number one priority. That’s 
evidenced by our safety record which is one of the best in the world. But people have to realise, 
safety doesn’t just happen at Airways. We’re achieving these results because of the effort we put 
in to safety: we constantly talk about it, we remind people about being safe, and we keep it front 
of mind. Safety is planned, promoted, reviewed and improved all day, every day at Airways.”

                                                                                                     - Russ Buckley, Head of Safety

SAFETY & RELIABILITY



Staying 
connected.



Aviation plays a crucial role in New Zealand’s economic wellbeing. Airways 
systems - whether on the ground, in the air or onboard aircraft - are 
fundamental to ensuring this economic value is realised. Last year, there 
was an average of just 1 hour of critical systems interruption.

systems 
availability99.996% 
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Airways Systems Business was established in July 2009 as 
a dedicated ‘one-stop shop’ for technology services, product 
development and technology sales and marketing. It’s a 
coordinated approach that has not only delivered better services 
to our New Zealand customers; it has generated signifi cant 
growth opportunities in a number of key offshore markets. 

SYSTEMS
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FLIGHT-YIELD™ LANDS IN KEY ASIA, PACIFIC AND 
MIDDLE EASTERN MARKETS

“Airways is extremely excited to be working with Saudi Arabia to 

deliver Flight-Yield. Following on from our other Flight-Yield contracts 

in NZ, China, Fiji and Papua New Guinea, Saudi Arabia is a signifi cant 

client for us in the Middle East and further strengthens our position as 

the leading billing solutions provider for ANSPs worldwide.”    

- Mark Figgitt, Manager Flight-Yield 

Flight-Yield’s position as the most effi cient and innovative billing system 

in the aviation industry was further cemented in 2009/10. As well as 

being granted an international patent, Flight-Yield was also purchased 

by the General Authority of Civil Aviation (GACA) in Saudi Arabia. GACA 

plays a very important role in the burgeoning Middle East region and is 

committed to being an industry leader.  Their purchase and installation 

of Airways Flight-Yield product demonstrates their continual process 

improvement by maximising the use of proven technology. Airways is 

enabling GACA to deliver a safer and more effi cient air traffi c control 

service to their customers. 

“A TECHNICAL MASTERPIECE”

Airways new Christchurch control tower was offi cially opened by Prime 

Minister John Key in September 2009. The 45-metre concrete and glass 

structure has become an iconic landmark for the city and provides a 

spectacular fi rst impression for visitors fl ying into the region.  

It also caught the eye of the judges in the 2010 Registered Master 

Builders Awards, taking top honours as the ‘Commercial Project of the 

Year.’ The judges called the structure “a technical masterpiece” and 

acknowledged Airways, along with architect Paris Magdalinos and Hawkins 

Construction, for their vision, inspiration and enthusiasm.

Airways Project Manager, John Pringle’s comments, at the opening of the 

tower in 2009 certainly ring true almost one year on: “The control tower is 

an iconic structure and is looked upon with great pride by the people who 

work at Airways.  We know that over the coming years it will become a 

signifi cant part of Christchurch’s architectural heritage.”

‘CUTTING EDGE’ TECHNOLOGY FOR 
QUEENSTOWN FLIGHTS

Airways has completed installation of a new system of aircraft surveillance 

in Queenstown, which will  provide increased surety of service and deliver 

another “layer of safety” to commercial aviation in the region. 

Over the past 18 months, Airways engineers and technical staff have been 

installing Wide Area Multilateration (MLAT) surveillance equipment into the 

hills around Queenstown.  While MLAT has been used in the military for a 

number of years, its use in Queenstown for civil aviation is considered ‘cutting 

edge’ and Airways adoption of this proven technology is regarded as being 

amongst the best deployment of the technology in the world.

Queenstown’s complex terrain has meant that in the past, fl ights were 

extremely limited during inclement weather. The mountains also preclude 

the use of traditional radar, so it has long been a strategic issue to get 

surveillance into Queenstown airport particularly with the increasing 

number of jet fl ights taking place. 

“Queenstown has gone from having relatively low-levels of aircraft 

activity with smaller aircraft, to an area servicing high-frequency jet fl ight 

operations. Queenstown is a growing market that has increased the 

complexity of air traffi c control. MLAT will enable air traffi c controllers to 

provide pilots with more accurate and timely traffi c information.” 

Airways Communications and Surveillance Engineer, Roger Kippenberger.

LOOKING AHEAD: 

 » Complete Flight Yield installation in Saudi Arabia and secure a   

 contract for two other international sites.

 » Complete the replacement of navigation equipment at 10 sites   

 around New Zealand.

 » Fully integrate the multilateration (MLAT) and electronic fl ight strip  

 systems into the Skyline ATM system.

 » Continue to deliver systems consulting services to major systems   

 upgrades in Kuwait, Oman, Taiwan and the Phillippines.





increase in 
external revenues500% 

In its inaugural year of operation, Airways training business 
increased external revenues by more than 500%. The fact that 
Airways achieved such strong success in such a challenging 
operating environment, is testament to our international 
reputation for innovation and experience in air traffi c control 
training and management. 

Connecting
with tomorrow.
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Airways has experienced success in developing and delivering 

effective ATC and technical training to both domestic and 

international clients. The formation of Airways Training business in 

the past 12 months has seen revenues increase from $800k to over 

$4m and more growth is planned. 

There are on-going shortages of ATCs internationally and a shortage 

of effective training capacity that will remain an important success 

factor for the industry despite the economic downturn. Organisations 

such as CANSO and IFATCA have estimated the global shortage of 

ATCOs to be in the vicinity of 3000, with most of the backlog in the 

high growth regions of the Middle East, China and India. 

This level of demand drives opportunities for Airways to train ATCs 

in New Zealand, but of longer term potential, to invest in offshore 

campuses, using highly successful training methodologies developed 

in New Zealand. 

BRINGING THE WORLD TO NEW ZEALAND
In the past 12 months, Airways training campus in Christchurch has played 

host to students from Hong Kong, Vietnam, China, the Pacifi c Islands, 

Saudi Arabia and South Africa. 

“We’ve been working with the Saudis for the past 18 months to secure this deal. 
Being chosen to provide their ATC training has meant a ‘whole of business’ effort over a 
long period of time. Ultimately, it was our reputation for excellence that sealed the deal 
for Airways.” 

 - John McKenzie, 

Manager Airways Training Sales 

TRAINING

In June 2010, 30 Saudi Arabian air traffi c control students arrived in 

Christchurch, the fi rst ‘batch’ in a contract that will potentially deliver 

millions of dollars into the local economy and secure Airways reputation 

as one of the world’s leading providers of specialist aviation training.

Airways bid to the General Authority of Civil Aviation (GACA) of the 

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia was chosen over a number of international 

suppliers and builds on our work in Oman, Kuwait, UAE, Taiwan, China, 

South Africa and the Philippines. Airways offered both the best training 

package and also the best overall life experience for their students. 

LOOKING AHEAD: 

By 2013 we aim to have multi-year contracts for 100 international ATC 

students to train in NZ, and to be delivering in a number of training 

locations outside New Zealand and through a range of partners. 

Our prime market focus will continue to be the Pacifi c, Asia and the Middle 

East. However we believe there are signifi cant opportunities coming out of the 

FAA (United States) in their ‘NextGen’ ATM programme and in ATC training. 

We will continue to build on our existing relationship with the FAA and 

with major industry players such as Lockheed Martin, Barco and Raytheon.
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“Already we’ve started to make inroads into 
markets that have long been captured by 
other providers. Airways has established 
a reputation for delivering great training 
services and products. Of increasing 
importance - given the resource constraints 
faced by many ANSPs – is that we do it 
faster, more effi ciently and more successfully 
than our competitors.”

- Gordon Alexander, 
Manager Logistics and Contracts



Connecting 
with our 
community.



new zealanders dedicated 
to making your world possible750 

“Airways staff literally kick it out of the ballpark. We give our staff 
the freedom to try, to create, to believe in themselves. They are 
our advantage; they are the reason we are considered one of the 
best ANSPs in the world.”
                                         - Ashley Smout, CEO
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One of the stated outcomes in Airways Business Plan is to continually 

strive to develop and maintain a workforce that is motivated and prepared. 

Despite the considerable uncertainty that plagued the aviation industry 

in general, and prompted widespread resourcing reviews at Airways, our 

people simply got on with the job at hand – supporting the industry, the 

business and each other.

GOOD TO GREAT
‘Patience and persistence’ are two of the key ingredients in Airways goal to 

be counted amongst New Zealand’s ‘top 25 places to work’. What started 

out as a very aspirational goal in 2007 - when climate survey results 

refl ected participation rates of around 50% and engagement results 

hovered around 18% - is now within our reach. The 2010 People Survey 

achieved the highest participation rate on record (77%), engagement 

rates of 72% across the board and a number of our business units already 

surpassing the JRA ‘Best Places to Work’ benchmark.

LEADING FROM THE FRONT
Airways makes a signifi cant investment in the future of our business 

through staff training and coaching professional and leadership 

development. The return on this investment is manifest in our People 

Survey results; the strong and positive relationships we have within the 

industry, our safety performance and our fi nancial results. 

In 2009/10 Airways put over 250 non-operational staff through training 

programmes, ranging from project management, governance, crisis 

management, employment law, coaching and risk management. All new 

managerial appointments were placed into our leadership development 

programme and 28 nominations were made for staff to join our 

comprehensive Aspiring Leaders initiative. 

OUR PEOPLE

“In light of the operating environment, for us to have remained on track this year is wholly 
down to our people; it’s testament to their professionalism, to their tenacity and to the 
support and vision of our leadership team.”                                                                                                

- Monica Davis, 

Group Manager Corporate Services

Our focus on professional development is supported by robust People 

Plan processes, the content of which are infl uenced by People Survey 

results and determined by staff. Airways People Plans set specifi c 

engagement targets, aim to increase understanding about key business 

drivers and direction, ensure training and development needs are met 

and increase our overall sense of community and common purpose. 

WEATHERING THE STORM
The achievements of 2009/10 were delivered against a backdrop of 

salary and hiring freezes, across-the-board human resources reviews and 

organisation-wide austerity measures. Staff were asked for cost-cutting 

ideas to help achieve a $2 million savings target - with more than 100 

submitted ranging from sub-letting offi ce space, salary banking and 

sacrifi ces, deferring new technology and rethinking travel. 

“For Airways to go out to our customers, the airlines, and ask for a price 

increase in a climate of such uncertainty, meant we had to be absolutely 

certain that we had explored every single internal cost-saving opportunity 

open to us. We asked our people to share their [the airlines’] pain and to 

their credit, that’s exactly what they did.”

LOOKING AHEAD:

 » Negotiate the collective agreements expiring in 2010/11 within   

 acceptable parameters.

 » Make further progress on our goal of being counted amongst 

 New Zealand’s 25 ‘Best Places to Work.’

 » Continue to invest in leadership and training initiatives to enhance 

 our performance culture. 
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OUR COMMUNITY: Airways has a comprehensive sponsorship portfolio, designed to support the industry we work in, the communities we 

operate in and the people who work for us. In 2009/10, Airways supported the following businesses, events, fundraisers and groups:

In the Aviation Community
 » Gold sponsor of the Aviation Industry  

 Association Conference

 » Around NZ Air Safari

 » Spidertracks

 » NZ Airports Conference

 » RNZAF Golfi ng Society

 » Qantas Pathfi nders Charity Flight

 » NZ Paragliding Champs

 » SI Gliding Champs

 » Pilot Expo

 » CAA Flight Examiners’ Seminar

 » RNZAF Airwomen

 » NZ Association of Women in Aviation

 » Flying NZ

 » Safety Management Systems Symposium

In the Community
 » Pacifi c Tsunami Appeal (Samoa and 

 Cook Islands)

 » Air NZ kids@christmas Charity Auction

 » Christchurch City Mission

 » SPCA (Christchurch)

 » The Original Scripts Theatre Company

 » Forfar Nursery and Preschool

 » Cancer Society of NZ

 » NZ Child Cancer Foundation

 » Loud Shirt Day

 » Canterbury Flyers Frisbee Club

Within Airways
 » The Airways Paddlateers (dragon boating)

 » The Airways Hawks (touch rugby)

 » The Airways Children’s Christmas Party

 » The 2009 Airways Golf Tournament

 » Indoor Netball League (Wellington)

 » Airways Ultimate Frisbee



Globally
connected.



kgs of co
emissions reduced61.5 M 

Airways New Zealand is a world leader in the development 
of new procedures and technologies to reduce aviation’s 
environmental footprint.  

2
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“CAM is an outstanding piece of technology and one that, thanks to Airways, is making Air NZ’s 
mission to be the ‘greenest’ airline in the world possible. Through innovation and collaboration, 
Airways has developed new tools and processes that have resulted in signifi cant savings in fuel 
usage and reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. Other countries are now looking to us for 
leadership on how to implement the technology in their part of the world and in doing so, make 
a signifi cant contribution to the global environment.” 

- Chris McGaw, 

Airways Capacity Management Specialist 

20.5 M
kgs of fuel

$29.5 M
in fuel costs

61.5 M
kgs of CO2

 emissions

Since its tiered introduction into New Zealand’s main trunk airports in 

2008/09, Airways Collaborative Arrivals Manager (CAM) has saved our 

airline customers:

GOOD FOR PEOPLE, 
GREAT FOR THE PLANET

CAM has changed the whole operating environment of domestic 

passenger fl ights in New Zealand. In the past year, it has reduced airborne 

delays into Auckland and Wellington from an average of over 28,000 

minutes per month (2007) to less than 5,000 minutes per month. 

Collaborative Decision Making systems overseas claim compliance rates 

of between 30-40%; CAM has a compliance rate of 95%. The airlines 

have really embraced this technology and it’s having real and tangible 

benefi ts – fi nancially, environmentally and perhaps most importantly, 

for their passengers, through increased on-time performance.

Interest in the CAM system is growing internationally and Airways has 

entered into talks around a partnership with German-based global 

technology company, BARCO, to market the system around the world. 

Further development of the technology will  include an Arrivals Manager 

(AMAN) component. In terms of fuel burn, the arrival phase is the most 

ineffi cient for airline operations; the introduction of AMAN will enable 

more effi cient spacing between arriving fl ights, which will minimize and 

ultimately avoid the need for aircraft holding near airports.
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“CAM is an easy to use application that is 

providing tangible returns to Pacifi c Blue 

Airlines. Since its implementation we have 

benefi ted from reduced fl ight delays and lower 

operating and fuel costs. The system also helps 

us to closely manage on-time performance, 

ensuring our guests arrive on time, more of 

the time.“ 

- Steve Dwan, 

Pacifi c Blue  Ops Control Centre Manager

CAM SAVINGS:

CO2
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will provide some of the answers - today’s aircraft are 70% more effi cient 

than those produced 40 years ago - ANSPs must continue to be proactive 

to ensure infrastructure, technology and ATM procedures complement 

this airborne capability. Airways is absolutely committed to ensuring the 

sustainable future of fl ight. 

ASPIRE

The multi-award winning ASPIRE partnership, of which Airways is a 

founding member along with Airservices Australia and the FAA, has 

now grown to include Singapore and Japan. ASPIRE’s approach is 

also supported by airline and industry associates, including United 

Airlines, Singapore Airlines, Qantas, Japan Airlines, Air New Zealand 

and Boeing. 

Following on from demonstration fl ights which took place between

New Zealand, Australia and the US, Airways has this year been working 

on the implementation of daily ASPIRE fl ights between Auckland 

and San Francisco. Once implemented, this ‘ASPIRE Daily’ route will 

become just one of a network of ‘green routes’ throughout the Asia 

Pacifi c region.

The aviation sector is quite unique. Not only has it recognised the need 

for change but as a whole-of-industry (through ICAO) it has committed to 

a 2% annual emissions reduction until the year 2050. Whilst technology 

“The success of ASPIRE has gone well beyond the regional boundaries of Asia and the Pacifi c and 
it is now held up as an example of collaboration that can have far-reaching environmental benefi ts 
throughout the world. ASPIRE has taken the concept of ‘green’ fl ight and made it truly global.”

- Ashley Smout, 
founding member of ASPIRE

Studies into greenhouse gas emissions attribute 13% of the total 

emissions to the transport sector. Aviation is estimated to contribute 

around 2% of total emissions.

ASIA PACIFIC INITIATIVE TO REDUCE EMISSIONS



Connecting with 
our customers.



29.5M
2009/10 was a year in which Airways focused its efforts on service 
delivery and value-add initiatives to help airlines stave off the economic 
woes that have plagued the industry for the past 18 months. 

fuel saved by 
new zealand airlines
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AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES

Despite the obvious constraints evident in the operating environment, 

Airways continued to deliver on the myriad projects contained in its 

‘Vision 2015’ plan, including the expansion of Performance-Based 

Navigation procedures and a fl eet-wide roll-out of our fl ow management 

tools. As well as reducing airlines’ operating costs through reduced 

fuel consumption and increased on-time performance, these initiatives 

also lower Airways operating costs by improving productivity through 

increased automation. 

“The introduction of CAM and PBN optimises airspace utilisation 

and allows our customers to operate effi ciently to realise economic 

and environmental benefi ts.  It has also enabled signifi cant 

changes in the way we operate and provide the service. Services 

are now more predictable and consistent thereby reducing 

tactical and reactive controlling which is also showing real 

safety benefi ts. It’s this sort of clever collaborative thinking and 

innovative behaviour with the airlines that reinforces our value to 

the industry.” 

- Lew Jenkins, 

Main Trunk Manager

BASED ON PERFORMANCE

Technology onboard aircraft has had a fundamental impact on air traffi c 

management. Over the past two years, Airways has been working 

closely with our customers to ensure we have procedures established 

to maximise the use of cockpit technology and thus realise the greatest 

economic and environmental benefi ts it offers. 

Performance-based navigation (PBN) is one of the procedures resulting 

from this collaboration. PBN was initiated in 2008/09 and we are now 

seeing evidence of the signifi cant operating benefi ts it can deliver to 

airlines through maximizing traffi c fl ow, making best use of runways, 

increasing fl ight and fuel effi ciency and reducing emissions.

Because PBN is satellite-based, it allows suitably equipped aircraft to 

navigate the most effi cient tracks between departure and arrival airports. 

The result is reduced fl ight distances and also better access to airports 

located in diffi cult terrain areas, like Queenstown. Airways has continued 

to work in consultation with the industry to roll out the PBN Work Plan and 

whilst the emphasis has been on the major airports (Auckland, Wellington, 

Christchurch and Queenstown) for jet operations, this work is now starting 

to include New Zealand’s regional airports. 

PBN is also helping Airways, and the airlines, to reduce the 

environmental impact of aviation by implementing new and more 

effi cient PBN ‘city pair’ jet routes. Combined with demand management 

tools like Collaborative Arrivals Manager, PBN has contributed to a 

signifi cant reduction in fuel consumption for fl ights operating into 

Auckland, Wellington and Christchurch. 

HELPING OUR
CUSTOMERS SUCCEED
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REGIONAL AND MILITARY

In 2010, the Airways Aeronautical Design and Development unit designed 

a new Required Navigation Performance (RNP) approach for Rotorua 

airport to allow A320 aircraft to operate to lower approach minima. 

This world-fi rst design by an ANSP was followed up with a world-fi rst 

Airbus landing at Rotorua in May – Air New Zealand pilots guided the 

SYD-ROT fl ight below the cloud down to 301 feet, fl ying to the lowest 

certifi ed RNP level ever used. Without the technology the aircraft would 

have had to divert to Auckland, causing signifi cant disruption to hundreds 

of passengers. 

“Airways expertise combined with Air New Zealand’s excellent track 

record with RNP fl ight operations resulted in the approval for the airline 

to use the approach down to the most stringent RNP level. The weather 

conditions at the time were well below any of the traditional approach 

aid minimums, so the full RNP 0.1 capability was utilised by the crew to 

achieve a landing in heavy rain and low cloud. This fl ight would not have 

landed at Rotorua without RNP and the new approval level, so it was an 

especially poignant moment to fl y a world fi rst approach for the very 

fi rst time in such conditions” said Greg Atkins, Strategy and 

Development Manager.

The success of this collaboration comes as a result of signifi cant 

investment by both Airways and the airline. The savings made on this 

one fl ight paid for the R & D associated with this particular RNP approach. 

Coupled with the reduction in fuel and emissions, as well as eliminating 

passenger delays, RNP has proved to be a huge benefi t to customers, the 

airline and the environment.

QUEENSTOWN – THE BEST CONTROL TOWER IN 
NEW ZEALAND

“Queenstown is a complicated airfi eld with very high runway usage. 

On a good day when fl ights are able to access Milford, we can 

control 500 movements a day. We have to juggle the needs of the 

commercial fl eet with those of the general aviation community and 

do it all in an operating envelope dictated by the weather conditions 

at the time.”

         

  - Peter Lund-Jackson, 

QN TWR Controller and one of NZ’s longest-serving air traffi c controllers 

In April 2010, Queenstown control tower staff accepted an award for 

being the best control tower in New Zealand from the Aircraft Owners and 

Pilots Association (AOPA). AOPA represents the largest group of aircraft 

owners in New Zealand with over 600 aircraft involved and it is affi liated 

to the largest General Aviation organisation in the world.

The service provided by staff at the Queenstown control tower was 

considered to be superior from a users’ point of view. AOPA Life Member, 

Brian Hore, along with past AOPA President, Jules Tapper, presented the 

award to tower staff and acknowledged the professional, helpful and 

friendly service experienced by local and visiting aviators, as well as the 

valuable contribution that air traffic control makes to safety in 

New Zealand skies - especially in the difficult terrain surrounding 

Queenstown Airport.

 “The award itself is a true refl ection of the great team we have in 

Queenstown and the great service they provide to the community” said 

Jules Tapper.
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SUCCESSFUL RENEWAL OF THE ROYAL NEW ZEALAND 
AIR FORCE (RNZAF) CONTRACT 

In June 2010 Airways successfully renegotiated the contract to supply Air 

Navigation Services to the RNZAF. These services comprise the aerodrome 

control service at Whenuapai and Ohakea, and a radar control service 

within the Ohakea Control Area.  

The new contract provides both parties with a greater degree of fl exibility 

in terms of service delivery and staffi ng. Thanks to the strong relationship 

and customer focus that exists at the operational level between 

RNZAF and Airways, and the engagement of these people around the 

negotiating table, contract renegotiations went smoothly and within 

agreed timeframes. 
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GENERAL PRICE INCREASES
Our partnership approach extends to working closely with industry 

partners on something that we all have a vested interest in – pricing. 

In February 2010, Airways began consultation with the industry over 

proposed changes to Airways ANS prices for the next three years. Our 

original pricing proposal was 9.65% (4.15% of which was a portion of 

the increase Airways proposed in 2009 but agreed to defer following 

consultation with customers). After considering submissions and following 

extensive meetings with industry representatives, Airways adjusted its 

original proposal, reducing price increases to 7.5% in July 2011, 3.48% in 

July 2012 and 1.82% in July 2013. 

Whilst the revisions to the proposal did not achieve the level of 

phasing desired by Airways’ customers, we believe it was a reasonable 

compromise balancing the expectations of all of our stakeholders. It also 

demonstrated Airways genuine commitment to working with our key 

customers and stakeholders on developing solutions and achieving pricing 

outcomes that are fair and equitable.

The impact of these price increases on actual ticket prices, should 

airlines choose to pass them on, have been calculated at:

 » 0.40c for passengers fl ying from Auckland to Wellington 
 on an A320 or 737. 

 » 0.81c for regional passengers fl ying from Christchurch to 
 Invercargill in an ATR. 

 » 0.50c for passengers fl ying from Auckland to Palmerston 
 North on an ATR.

 » 0.60c for international passengers fl ying from LA to Auckland 
 in a 747.

 » 0.90c per landing for General Aviation (GA) aircraft fl ying under 
 visual fl ight rules. 

NEW ZEALAND AIRPORTS
Airways acknowledges the key contribution made by Airport 

Companies around New Zealand in providing a safe and effi cient 

aviation system. In recent years, we have worked closely with our 

airport partners to enhance the capacity and the safety environment at 

major airports. CAT III ILS at Auckland; multi-lateration surveillance at 

Queenstown; new PBN procedures at Rotorua and Christchurch’s new 

control tower are examples of Airways working collaboratively with our 

airline and airport partners.

LOOKING AHEAD:

 » working with the NZ Airports Association to review our base service   

 to airports to identify areas where Airways can add additional services.  

 » Participating in the review of Civil Aviation Rule part 139.

 » facilitating the role out of PBN to regional airports, which will 

 contribute to better customer experience and support airport   

 companies’ environmental goals.

 » As the Rugby World Cup approaches in 2011, it’s vital that Airways 

 works collaboratively with our aviation partners, to ensure  

 coordination of resources, alignment of functions and delivery of   

 services to the very best of our collective abilities to meet the needs  

 of the infl ux of people travelling to, and around, New Zealand. 
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AIRWAYS BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONSTANTINE  ANASTASIOU  |  Chairman, LLB (HONS), BA

Con was appointed to the Airways Board in 2000. He is a lawyer specialising in corporate law, commercial 

law, intellectual property law and resource management law.

He is a member of the New Zealand Law Society, a Fellow of the New Zealand Institute of Management, 

a member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors and an Associate of the Arbitrators and Mediators 

Institute of New Zealand.

ANTHONY BRISCOE  |  BA, Diploma in International Marketing (Hons)

Anthony was appointed to the Airways Board in November 2006. Anthony is General Manager of Telecom 

New Zealand International, which operates Telecom’s international voice, data and Internet networks. 

Anthony is responsible for all  international strategy, capacity sales and purchasing arrangements, and 

strategic alliances. In addition he is responsible for Telecom’s offshore offi ces in London, Los Angeles, 

Sydney, Singapore and Japan.

TERRY MURDOCH  

Terry was appointed to the Airways Board in 2009. He is the Chief Executive and director of Pacifi c Jets Ltd. 

He has more than  25 years experience in General Aviation, and has represented the industry on a number 

of committees and advisory groups. He is a commercial pilot holding Flight Examiner and Instructor ratings. 

He is also a member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors.

SUSAN PATERSON  |  Deputy Chair, BPharm, MBA (London)

Susan was appointed to the Airways Board in May 2006. She has experience as a general manager and 

strategy consultant with a number of companies in New Zealand, the USA, and Europe. Her current 

directorships include Goodman Property, Les Mills NZ Ltd, Theta Systems, and Abano Healthcare Ltd.

Susan has a keen interest in education and the environment and is on the Board of Trustees of NZ Eco-

Labelling Trust and previously, St Cuthbert’s College. Susan’s previous Directorships include Transpower NZ 

Ltd, Ports of Auckland, Tower Health and Life, and the Energy Effi ciency and Conservation Authority.
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GRAEME REEVES  |  BA, LLB

Graeme was appointed to the Airways Board in April 2007. He is a lawyer specialising in commercial law, 

asset protection and employment law. He is a member of the Gambling Commission, and a member 

of the New Zealand Law Society. Graeme has  corporate governance experience in the public and 

private sectors.

SUSAN HURIA
Susan Huria was appointed to the Airways Board in 2010. She is a specialist in the Maori sector with experience 

in governance, human resources, marketing communications and general management. She held a senior role 

at Auckland International Airport for ten years before starting her own management practice in 2000, Huria 

Anders. Her previous governance roles include Radio New Zealand Limited, Housing New Zealand Corporation, 

Ngai Tahu Development Corporation and Workbase, the national centre for workplace literacy. 

Since 2006 Susan has been an independent member on the Fonterra Governance Development 

Committee. Current governance roles include, deputy chair AgResearch, director of Watercare Services, 

director of Northland Port, director of Manukau Leisure Services and trustee of First Foundation.

DAVE PARK  |  BE(Hons), MSc, MBA 

Dave was appointed to the Airways Board in 2010. A professionally qualifi ed aeronautical engineer he has 

held senior Flight Operations management positions in two airlines and now provides aviation consulting 

advice to a range of airports, airlines and international aviation businesses. He is a member of the Royal 

Aeronautical Society, the Guild of Air Pilots and Navigators and is UK Chartered Engineer.

SUSAN PUTT  |  BCom, CA
Susan was appointed to the Airways Board in 2008. She has fi nancial and strategic management 

experience and is a qualifi ed Chartered Accountant. Susan has held senior management positions such 

as Chief Financial Offi cer and Strategy Manager in various companies. She is a member of the New 

Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and a Provisionally Accredited member of the New Zealand 

Institute of Directors.
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AIRWAYS EXECUTIVE TEAM

KERRY HAYCOCK
Chief Financial Officer (Acting)

ASHLEY SMOUT
Chief Executive Officer

ANDREW GRIFFITH
Group Manager Systems

LEW JENKINS
Group Manager ANS Delivery

MONICA DAVIS
Group Manager Corporate Services

BRUCE HEESTERMAN
Group Manager Global Training
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Foreign exchange rates have again been volatile throughout the year 

with the US/NZ cross rate closing the year at 0.6936 versus the 0.6521 

opening rate and trading as high as 0.7300. This volatility continued to 

provide a challenge for our international businesses.

The Weathering the Storm initiatives successfully achieved savings of 

$3.15 million for the year (including CAPEX deferred). The general price 

increase consultation process was completed during the second half 

of the year with a 7.5% increase effective from 1 July 2010. In the 

international growth business, the China Flight Yield project is now in 

the fi nal stages and growth revenue overall showed a 13% increase on 

2008/09.

The economic outlook for 2010/11 still remains the subject of debate by 

commentators about the shape of the recovery, however steady growth 

is returning to the world and NZ economies. We are forecasting ANS 

movements increases of 0.9% for the year ahead and initial indications 

are positive with some schedule increases by JetStar already announced, 

however, the recent announcement of Pacifi c Blue’s pending withdrawal 

from the New Zealand Domestic market highlights the challenges ahead. 

The Growth business units are also starting the year with strong sales 

pipelines compared to prior years.

The balance sheet remains strong as does the focus on productivity 

improvements for the year ahead.

The 2009/10 year commenced with the global recession in the 

background and considerable uncertainty about the prospects for the 

year ahead. Expectations were for ANS service revenue to be $1.2m 

under budget at the start of the year. In May 2009 the Weathering the 

Storm (WTS) initiative commenced a series of action plans to cut costs 

by $2 million and focus on future productivity gains. Internationally we 

were still working to bring the China Flight Yield project to a fi nalisation.

As the year progressed ANS service revenue slowly improved on 

expectations on the back of increased international schedules, to close 

the year $2.0m ahead of last year. 

With these actions Airways is able report at a group level, a full year Net 

Operating Profi t After Tax (NOPAT) of $5.1m which was marginally under 

budget of $5.2m (2008/09 $4.5m). However, the one-off impact of the 

removal of depreciation on buildings of $6.0m reduced the Net Profi t 

after Tax (NPAT) to a loss of $(0.9m). Group revenue of $145.3m is $5m 

above last year (2008/09 $140.3m). 

Airways’ fi nancial performance for 2009/10 is detailed in the following pages. Airways continues to 
prepare Economic Value Added (EVA) accounts in parallel to our conventional (NZIFRS) fi nancial 
statements, as an additional information disclosure to users of the fi nancial statements.

ANS SERVICE DELIVERY REVENUE

SEGMENT 2009/2010 2008/2009

Domestic $75.1M $74.7M

International $46.1M $44.5M

Total $121.2M (1.7%) $119.2M

EVA ($’000’s)

SEGMENT 2009/2010 2008/2009

Air Navigation Services  $33 (579)

International $1,555 (942)

Total $1,588 (1,521)

   

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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SAFE & RELIABLE

Airways continued to deliver on its ‘trending towards zero separation incidents’ goal thanks to a renewed focus on the four key safety dimensions 

outlined in the Strategic Safety Plan: performance, management, investment and people. Taking a more structured and coordinated approach to safety 

has delivered tangible results. 

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Continue to maintain levels of safety which are comparable with best international practice in terms of loss of separation and 
incident reporting culture.

ACHIEVED

Ensure that critical maintenance is completed and that the average systems availability of 99.95% is achieved with a goal of 
99.995% for critical systems.

ACHIEVED: 99.996% CRITICAL 

SYSTEMS AVAILABILITY

Implement a risk management process which links up with an audit process. ACHIEVED 

Implement a collaborative information-sharing capability within Airways. ACHIEVED

HELPING CUSTOMERS SUCCEED 

Our partnership approach has enabled us to work very closely with our domestic customers, creating and tailoring products and services to help them 

achieve the best possible outcomes in what has been a diffi cult operating environment. A tough economy and the increasing focus on environmental 

impacts has seen Airways deliver on a number of projects to help our customers  reduce their operating costs through enhanced fuel and time 

effi ciencies and emissions reductions.

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Deliver on key Vision 2015 objectives, especially with respect to Performance-Based Navigation. IN PROGRESS

Continue to develop and implement a range of initiatives aimed at improving our customers’ performance, and at optimising Airways labour 
and technology productivity.

ACHIEVED

GROWING THE BUSINESS

In 2008/09, we formally established training and systems businesses to focus on the international market; this year, combined revenue from both 

increased by 500% which helped to offset the decline in domestic ANS EVA. Our success in this extremely competitive market is testament to our 

reputation as being one of the best ANSPs in the world.

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Secure at least one multi-year, >$1m pa ATC Training sale. ACHIEVED

Launch a Finder and Placement service for ATCs. ON HOLD

Complete Flight-Yield™ installation in China, and Fiji, and contract for two other sites. NOT ACHIEVED

In order to achieve our vision, Airways has fi ve strategic themes with associated objectives and measures.

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE INTENT 
PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES
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COMMERCIALLY SUCCESSFUL 

The effects of the global fi nancial crisis continue to be felt throughout the aviation community worldwide. Despite early predictions of an EVA-loss, 

Airways in fact lifted its fi nancial performance to post a positive result. 

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Return a positive EVA performance. ACHIEVED

Manage the Balance Sheet within debt and equity covenants. ACHIEVED

Work closely with our airline, general aviation and pilot training customers to move toward transparent location specific pricing.
DEFERRED 

(until other pricing initiative is complete )

Enhance the pricing strategy negotiated with BARNZ with negotiations on expansion of the partnership into a value based 
proposition.

ON TRACK

MOTIVATED AND PREPARED WORKFORCE

Despite the gloomy economic environment, Airways people rallied in support of the business. Whilst not without its challenges, this year was testament 

to the tenacity, commitment and professionalism of our staff - they are the embodiment of our values of being safe, valuing each other and being good 

at what we do.  

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Continue to build employee engagement by improving Leadership (e.g. annual performance appraisals for all staff, improved 
management of poor performance, better communication of how business unit or team goals link to those of the company). 

ACHIEVED

Align Airways brand with domestic, internal and international audiences and raise the profile of the brand to support international 
marketing and local recruitment. ACHIEVED

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

Airways exhibits a sense of social responsibility by supporting aviation-related events and activities, sponsoring and supporting community events and 

initiatives throughout NZ and ensuring that our business is driven by a set of values which are evident in our daily operations. 

OBJECTIVE STATUS

Airways’ Mission is to “work with our customers to get aircraft and their passengers to their destination safely and efficiently”. 
This represents our primary social responsibility.

ACHIEVED

Assist our airline customers in reducing New Zealand’s aviation greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. ACHIEVED
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The actual results against the Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI) targets are: 

In terms of EVA accounting over the period are: 

EVA MEASURE SCI ACTUAL VARIANCE

Shareholder EVA ($1.9m) $1.6m $3.5m

Shareholder’s Equity $92.1m $97.6m $5.5m

Capitalised Expenditure $17.0m $10.3m ($6.7m)

Dividends $5m $5m –

Shareholder’s Equity to Total Capital % 62% 66% 4%

In terms of conventional (GAAP) accounting over the period are: 

GAAP MEASURE SCI ACTUAL VARIANCE

Group NPAT (1) $5.2m ($0.9m) ($6.1m)

Return on average equity 10% (2%) (12%)

Shareholder’s Equity $51.6m $45.6m ($6.0m)

Shareholder’s Equity to Total Capital % 46% 38% (8%)

(1) The impact of the 2010 budget resulted in an increase to the deferred tax liability in relation to buildings of $6.04 million which 

has been recognised in the tax expense in the current year. Before this adjustment actual Group NPAT increased from ($0.9m) 

to $5.1m. 

FINANCIAL TARGETS AND MEASURES
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INCOME STATEMENT EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 2009 NOTES

REVENUE

Air Navigation Services 122,197 121,145

International 21,640 17,736

143,837 138,881

EXPENSES 

Labour costs 89,168 86,991

Other operating costs 26,795 26,114

Depreciation 15,967 17,387

Tax charge 1,042 841 7

132,972 131,333

NET OPERATING SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION 10,865 7,548

Less charge on operating capital (9,277) (9,069) 3

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED 1,588 (1,521)

EVA EXPLANATIONS:

CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL

The charge on operating capital is the cost of a normal return to the providers of capital. It is calculated by multiplying the 

average capital employed by the cost of capital. The cost of capital is a percentage that represents a normal rate of return 

on operating assets for investing in a particular business. 

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED (EVA)

EVA measures the extent to which a business is performing above or below expectations. A positive EVA means the 

business is adding value after allowing for a normal reward to the providers of capital. 

The Board of Directors of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited authorised these fi nancial statements for issue on 

26 August 2010. 

CONSTANTINE ANASTASIOU SUSAN PATERSON

Chairman Director

26 August 2010 26 August 2010

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 54 to 60.
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SHAREHOLDER’S MOVEMENT IN EQUITY CAPITAL  EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 2009 NOTES

OPENING EQUITY CAPITAL 93,935 95,079

Charge on equity capital 7,142 7,136 4

Other movements in equity capital 1,502 (2,280) 8

8,644 4,856

DIVIDENDS PAID: 

Current year dividend (5,000) (6,000)

(5,000) (6,000)

CLOSING EQUITY CAPITAL 97,579 93,935 10

EVA EXPLANATIONS:

CHARGE ON EQUITY CAPITAL

The charge on equity capital is the cost of a normal return to the providers of equity capital. It is calculated by multiplying 
the average amount of equity by the cost of equity. The cost of equity is a percentage that represents a normal rate of return 
on equity for investing in a particular business. The cost of equity includes the cost of capital plus an additional premium for 
fi nancing risk. The fi nancing risk premium is dependent on the gearing of the business. 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 54 to 60.
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BALANCE SHEET EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 2009 NOTES

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

LONG-TERM ASSETS 125,860 132,098 12

Current assets 28,123 19,604 11

Current liabilities (6,361) (7,081) 11

NET WORKING CAPITAL 21,762 12,523

TOTAL CAPITAL EMPLOYED 147,622 144,621

CAPITAL INVESTED

Equity 97,579 93,935 10

Debt 50,043 50,686 10

TOTAL CAPITAL INVESTED 147,622 144,621

CAPITAL EMPLOYED IS USED AS FOLLOWS:

Air Navigation Services 130,704 138,894

International 16,918 5,727

147,622 144,621

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 54 to 60.
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INCOME STATEMENT (BY SEGMENTS)  EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 54 to 60.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 2009 NOTES

AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES

REVENUE

Airways charges 121,224 119,221

Other revenue 973 1,924

122,197 121,145

EXPENSES

Labour costs 67,948 81,880

Other operating costs 10,533 15,613

Intergroup transfers 21,969 (1,421)

Depreciation 13,967 16,552

Tax charge (196) 880

114,221 113,504

NET OPERATING SURPLUS AFTER TAX 7,976 7,641

Less charge on operating capital (7,943) (8,220) 3

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED 33 (579) 8

INTERNATIONAL

REVENUE 

Airways charges 2,862 2,632

Other revenue 18,778 15,104

21,640 17,736

EXPENSES

Labour costs 21,221 5,111

Other operating costs 20,703 12,338

Intergroup transfers (26,410) (416)

Depreciation 1,999 835

Tax charge 1,238 (39)

18,751 17,829

NET OPERATING SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION 2,889 (93)

Less charge on operating capital (1,334) (849) 3

ECONOMIC VALUE ADDED 1,555 (942) 8

AIRWAYS CORPORATION OF NEW ZEALAND LIMITED EVA 1,588 (1,521)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

NOTE 1 EVA PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES

There is no generally accepted EVA reporting standards. It is therefore important to state the basis and assumptions upon 
which the results have been calculated.

EVA principles and policies are consistent with those applied last year.

A. GENERAL PRINCIPLES
Income and expenditure is recorded at – or close to – the time it is received or paid at the actual monetary value, except 
where noted below.

All expenditure is included in the calculation of Net Operating Surplus After Tax (NOPAT) on a basis that refl ects the periods 
over which related economic benefi ts are realised. See Note 14.

B. FINANCING COSTS
No fi nancing costs are included in the calculation of NOPAT.

C. CHARGE FOR CAPTIAL EMPLOYED (CAPITAL CHARGE)
The capital charge in the EVA Financial Statements is calculated on the average operating capital. A cost of capital, that 
represents a normal return for operating risk, is calculated for each business unit. A capital charge is applied to work in 
progress.

D. COST OF CAPITAL
The risk free rate used in the cost of capital is the fi ve year Government Stock rate which is updated each month.

E. TAXATION
The total cost in the EVA Financial Statements is the actual income tax paid on normal operations.

F. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable are stated at their realisable value.

G. STOCK
Stock is stated at weighed average cost or at market value (if this is signifi cantly different). Any change in value is recognised 
through NOPAT.

H. LEASES
Signifi cant operating leases are capitalised. Lease rentals are discounted at the inherent interest rate to determine the cost of 
the assets.

The cost of the leased assets is included in the Balance Sheet both in fi nancing (capital invested) and operating assets 
(capital employed).

The leased assets included in operating capital are depreciated through NOPAT.

I. CHANGES IN POLICIES
There have been no changes in accounting policies.
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 2010 2009 NOTES

NOTE 2 COMPONENTS OF THE CAPITAL CHARGE

CAPITAL CHARGE DERIVED FROM:

Charge on operating capital 9,277 9,069 3

Charge on development costs 156 156

9,433 9,225

CAPITAL CHARGE PROVIDED TO:

EQUITY PROVIDER

Charge on equity capital 7,142 7,136 4

DEBT HOLDERS

Opportunity cost of debt 2,291 2,089 9

9,433 9,225

NOTE 3 CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL

AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES

Average operating capital 133,343 137,839

Cost of capital – average 5.96% 5.96%

CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL 7,943 8,220

INTERNATIONAL

Average operating capital 14,747 8,184

Cost of capital – average 9.04% 10.37%

CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL 1,334 849

CONSOLIDATED

Average operating capital 148,090 146,023

Cost of capital – average 6.28%  6.21% 6

CHARGE ON OPERATING CAPITAL 9,277 9,069 2

NOTE 4 CHARGE ON EQUITY CAPITAL

Average equity capital 105,582 100,649

Cost of equity capital 6.76% 7.09% 6

CHARGE ON EQUITY CAPITAL 7,142 7,136 2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)



56  | airways annual report 2010

ABBREVIATION 2010 2009

NOTE 5 COST OF CAPITAL*

SUMMARY OF PARAMETERS FOR COST OF CAPITAL:

Risk free rate – 5 year Government stock RFR 5.08% 5.10%

Market risk premium MRP 8.0% 8.0%

Company tax rate Td 30.0% 30.0%

Business risk factor (asset beta) Bu

Air Navigation Services 0.30 0.30

International (weighted average) 0.60 0.86

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (weighted average) 0.34 0.33

* An example is presented in note 6

 

EVA EXPLANATIONS:

To calculate the cost of capital it is necessary fi rst to identify the return available from investing in Government Stock. 
This is called “the risk free rate”. Airways chooses fi ve year Government Stock as the risk free rate on the basis that the 
shareholder is making a long-term investment decision. The actual rate is a 12 month average e.g. July 2009 to June 
2010. The risk free rate is reduced to an after tax return by deducting tax at the current tax rate. A percentage premium 
is then added to the after tax free rate to compensate for investing in a business rather than risk free Government Stock. 
The amount of the premium depends upon the level of risk of each business. To determine the premium, a risk factor 
is calculated for each business. This risk factor is known as the asset beta and it represents an assessment of the risk 
attached to the operating assets of the business. Airways’ air navigation activity is considered a low risk and has an 
asset beta of 0.30. Airways’ other business units each have their own asset betas. Recent updated studies and empirical 
evidence demonstrates that an investor should expect to receive an average premium above the risk free rate of 8 percent 
after tax by investing in a diverse portfolio of shares in the New Zealand market, as measured over a long period of time. 

Therefore, a shareholder in Airways with its asset beta of 0.34 should expect to receive a premium of 2.72 percent (0.34 x 
8 percent) above the risk free rate for choosing to accept the operating risks of Airways. 

ABBREVIATION 2010 2009

NOTE 6 COST OF EQUITY CAPITAL

Equity risk factor (equity beta) Be 0.40 0.44

EVA EXPLANATIONS:

The cost of capital is derived from the risk associated with the operations (assets) of a business and not the manner in 
which it is fi nanced. The cost of capital is unaffected by the gearing. The use of debt fi nance as capital in a business 
introduces credit risk to the providers of equity. Therefore, the equity providers will expect a return which includes the 
cost of capital (reward for business risk) plus an additional return for credit risk (reward for fi nancing risk). The cost of 
equity increases according to the amount of debt fi nancing. It must be remembered that the cost of capital remains 
constant regardless of the gearing. However the cost of equity will be directly affected by the gearing. Costs of capital 
and equity for Airways are calculated using the following formula: (fi gures shown are those for the 2009/10 year). 

Required return on 
risk free investment

(RFR x (1-Td)) 
(5.08% x (1-30%))

3.56%

Premium for 
business risk
(Bu x MRP) 
(0.34 x 8%)

2.72%

Premium for 
fi nancing risk 

(Be-Bu) x MRP 
((0.40-0.34) x 8%) 

0.48%

COST OF EQUITY 6.76%

COST OF CAPITAL 6.28%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

2010 2009 NOTES

NOTE 7 INCOME TAX

INCOME TAX PAID INCLUDES:

Tax charge 1,042 841

Foreign withholding tax paid (116) (218)

Other fi nancial transactions 368 368

Tax on net fi nancing cost (794) (991)

INCOME TAX PAID 500 –

NOTE 8 OTHER MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY CAPITAL

Air Navigation Services EVA 33 (579)

International EVA 1,555 (942)

Treasury gains/(losses) 438 (223) 9

Financial and other transactions (524) (536)

1,502 (2,280)

NOTE 9 TREASURY GAINS/(LOSSES) 

Interest on debt:

At opportunity cost 2,291 2,089

Less actual cost 1,853 2,312

438 (223)

The Treasury net gains/(losses) are due to the differences between the internal interest rate (used to calculate the 

opportunity cost of debt) and market rates (used to calculate the actual cost of debt and leased assets). 

Opportunity cost of debt is based on the rate for fi ve year Government Stock plus an expected borrowing margin of 0.75 

percent. Debt includes signifi cant operating leases which are capitalised (refer note 1H). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

2010 2009 NOTES

NOTE 10 CAPITAL INVESTED

Equity includes: 

Share capital (41,100,000 shares) 41,100 41,100

Other economic equity 56,479 52,835

97,579 93,935

Debt includes: 

Borrowing (1) 36,000 35,000

Capitalised leases 14,043 15,686

50,043 50,686

TOTAL CAPITAL INVESTED 147,622 144,621

NOTE 11 ANALYSIS OF WORKING CAPITAL

Current assets:

Trade accounts receivable 20,446 15,301

Other current assets 7,677 4,303

28,123 19,604

Current liabilities: 

Trade accounts payable 683 504

Other current liabilities 5,678 6,577

6,361 7,081

NET WORKING CAPITAL 21,762 12,523

NOTE 12 ANALYSIS OF LONG TERM ASSETS

Intangibles 4,896 3,812

Land 6,710 6,813

Buildings 24,026 20,653

Plant and equipment 66,596 69,306

Motor vehicles 317 479

Computers and furniture 11,480 11,311

Other long term assets (including WIP) 11,835 19,724

125,860 132,098

Certain fi xed assets within plant and equipment are subject to a cross border lease arrangement. The arrangement does 

not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day operations.  

(1) This facility expires in January 2011.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

NOTE 13 LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Long term liabilities that are not recognised for EVA purposes fall into two categories: 

•  Known liabilities (leave and superannuation provisions) which amount to $18.5 million (2009: $16.4 million). Under 

present business conditions these liabilities are not expected to affect Airways’ cash fl ow in the foreseeable future. 

•  Airways has contingent liabilities in respect to fi nancial guarantee contracts of $1.9 million (2009: $1.9 million) 

and Airways’ 50% participating interest in the Joint Venture, Aviation English Services. Airways’ share of the Joint 

Venture’s recognised revenue and expenses has been recognised as a reduction in the carrying value of the 

investment of $98,038 (2009: $176,958) and a reduction in the Airways’ receivable from the Joint Venture of $75,841 

(2009: Nil). Under the Joint Venture, Airways is jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the Joint Venture. 

Airways’ maximum potential exposure in this regard is 100% of the Joint Venture’s obligations. No provision has been 

recognised with respect of these obligations.

NOTE 14 COST REALISATION SCHEDULE

Refer to note 1A.

Analysis of periods over which costs are included in NOPAT.

DEPRECIATION RANGE ACTUAL WEIGHTED 

AVERAGE

Business development costs (subject to an annual 
impairment review) 

product related 1 – 5 years 4 years

market development/strategic 5 – 10 years 5 years

Business goodwill (which has a sustainable value) not depreciated but subject 
to an annual impairment 

review

not depreciated but subject 
to an annual impairment 

review

Land not depreciated not depreciated

Buildings 8 – 40 years 30 years

Computers and furniture 3 – 10 years 8 years

Plant and equipment 3 – 20 years 13 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 6 years 5 years 

Work in progress not depreciated not depreciated

Product related costs will be amortised over the period during which revenue is generated by the delivery of the 

products, estimated at between 1 and 5 years. The assets will include the capital charge on the existing asset up until the 

commencement of amortisation. The amortisation will commence when revenue is fi rst recognised. 

The market development/strategic costs will be amortised over 5 – 10 years, commencing during the fi nancial year following 

the end of capitalisation. The capital charge on this cost will not be capitalised. 

All capitalised costs are subject to an annual impairment review. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EVA

NOTE 15 COMMITMENTS

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

2010 2009

Less than one year 3,503 3,430

One to two years 3,203 3,248

Two to fi ve years 8,625 7,169

Over fi ve years 8,130 11,038

TOTAL OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATIONS 23,461 24,885

These lease commitments relate to both unsigned leases under negotiation, and signed leases. Management has 

estimated future lease commitments for unsigned leases, based on the most recent lease negotiations. The Group leases 

various land, buildings, IT hardware and equipment under non cancellable operating lease agreements. Lease terms are 

between two and twenty one years and most agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period. 

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At balance date Airways had total capital commitments of $6.40 million (2009: $8.40 million). Airways will fund 

this programme through operating cash fl ow and increased debt (whilst remaining within current loan facilities and 

covenants). 

NOTE 16 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no subsequent events to report.
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AUDIT REPORT EVA

TO THE READERS OF THE EVA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AIRWAYS CORPORATION OF NEW ZEALAND LIMITED 
AND GROUP FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

We have audited the economic value added (EVA) fi nancial statements on pages 50 to 60. The EVA fi nancial statements 

provide information about the past economic performance of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and Group, 

and their economic position as at 30 June 2010 within an economic value added framework. This information is stated in 

accordance with the EVA principles and policies set out on page 54.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors (the Board) are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the EVA statements in 

accordance with the EVA principles and policies set out on page 54. The Board has determined that the EVA principles 

and policies used and described on page 54 of the EVA fi nancial statements are appropriate to meet the needs of the 

shareholders.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

TThe Auditor-General is required to audit the fi nancial statements of the Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and 

Group under section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19(1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986. In that 

capacity the Auditor-General has audited the EVA fi nancial statements presented by the Board. It is the responsibility of 

the Auditor-General to express an independent opinion on the EVA fi nancial statements and report that opinion to you. 

The Auditor-General has appointed Fred Hutchings of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to undertake the audit.

BASIS OF OPINION

AAn audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the EVA fi nancial 

statements. It also includes assessing:

» the signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Board in the preparation of the EVA fi nancial statements; and

» whether the EVA principles and policies are appropriate to Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and Group’s  

  circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards published by the Auditor-General, which incorporate 

the Auditing Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. We planned and performed 

our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with 

suffi cient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the EVA fi nancial statements are free from material misstatements, 

whether caused by fraud or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 

information in the EVA fi nancial statements.

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of other assurance services, which are compatible 

with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and these assignments, we have no relationship with or 

interests in the Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited or any of its subsidiaries.

UNQUALIFIED OPINION

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion the EVA fi nancial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the EVA principles and 

policies set out on page 54.

Our audit was completed on 27 August 2010 and our unqualifi ed opinion is expressed as at that date.

Fred Hutchings      PricewaterhouseCoopers

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REVENUE 

Airways charges 124,085 121,853 121,224 119,222

Other income 21,161 18,270 28,370 10,164 4

Interest income 110 248 110 248

145,356 140,371 149,704 129,634

EXPENSE 

Depreciation 13,231 14,625 11,996 14,625 12

Amortisation 991 681 556 681 13

Employee remuneration 91,394 85,448 91,394 85,395 5

Other operating costs 27,176 27,483 35,643 14,147 6

Rental expense on operating leases 4,317 4,118 5,531 5,332

Interest expense 1,660 2,229 1,634 2,216

Investment impairment – – 98 564 29

Share of loss from Joint Venture 174 177 – – 27

138,943 134,761 146,852 122,960

NET SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 6,413 5,610 2,852 6,674

Taxation expense (1,306) (1,082) 1,026 (1,553) 8

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings (6,047) – (5,956) – 8

TOTAL TAXATION EXPENSE (7,353) (1,082) (4,930) (1,553)

NET (LOSS)/SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION (940) 4,528 (2,078) 5,121

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Movement on foreign exchange cash fl ow hedge 
reserve 

801 (666) 801 (666)

Movement on interest rate derivative cash fl ow 
hedge reserve 

(1,207) 272 (1,207) 272

Deferred tax for current year on other 
comprehensive income 

122 118 122 118 8

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (284) (276) (284) (276)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR (1,224) 4,252 (2,362) 4,845

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 

Equity shareholders (1,224) 4,252 (2,362) 4,845

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

GROUP 

CONTRIBUTED 

EQUITY 

HEDGE 

RESERVE 

RETAINED 

PROFITS 

TOTAL NOTES 

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2008 41,100 346 12,114 53,560

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Surplus after taxation - - 4,528 4,528

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES RECOGNISED IN:

Net surplus before taxation - (168) - (168)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - (423) - (423)

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year (75) (75)

New interest rate hedges - 746 - 746

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (474) - (474)

Deferred Tax - 118 - 118

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (276) - (276)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (276) 4,528 4,252

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid (15 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000) 

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 41,100 70 10,642 51,812

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Loss after taxation - - (940) (940)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES RECOGNISED IN: 

Property, plant & equipment - 102 - 102

Net surplus before taxation - 249 - 249

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 472 - 472

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (93) - (93)

New interest rate hedges - (970) - (970)

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (166) - (166)

Deferred Tax - 122 - 122

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) - (284)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (284) (940) (1,224)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (12 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 4,702 45,588
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This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

PARENT 

CONTRIBUTED 

EQUITY 

HEDGE 

RESERVE 

RETAINED 

PROFITS 

TOTAL NOTES 

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2008 41,100 346 9,409 50,855

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Surplus after taxation - - 5,121 5,121

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES RECOGNISED IN: 

Net surplus before taxation - (168) - (168)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - (423) - (423)

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (75) - (75)

New interest rate hedges - 746 - 746

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (474) - (474)

Deferred Tax - 118 - 118

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (276) 5,121 (276)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - (276) 5,121 4,845

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid (15 cents per share) - - (6,000) (6,000) 

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS - - (6,000) (6,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 41,100 70 8,530 49,700

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Loss after taxation - - (2,078) (2,078)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES RECOGNISED IN:

Property, plant & equipment - 102 - 102

Net surplus before taxation - 249 - 249

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

New foreign exchange hedges – 472 – 472

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year – (93) – (93)

New interest rate hedges – (970) – (970)

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year – (166) – (166)

Deferred Tax – 122 – 122

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – (284) – (284)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – (284) (2,078) (2,362)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 

Dividends paid (12 cents per share) – – (5,000) (5,000)

TOTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS – – (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 41,100 (214) 1,452 42,338
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) NZIFRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

Share Capital – The Parent has paid up capital of $41.1 million (2009: $41.1 million) issued and fully paid ordinary shares which 
confer on the holders the right to vote at any general meeting of Shareholders. This consists of 41,100,000 fully paid ordinary 
shares. Ordinary shares have no par value.

The Cash Flow Hedge Reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash fl ow hedge that is 
determined to be an effective hedge.
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This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,425 1,831 5,425 1,831 9

Trade and Other Receivables 21,697 16,499 22,456 12,417 11

Prepayments 818 579 818 579

Current Tax Assets 1,919 2,609 3,167 2,613 17

Derivative Financial Instruments 604 417 604 417 10

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 30,463 21,935 32,470 17,857

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 106,452 111,711 100,581 111,711 12

Intangibles 4,855 3,633 1,610 3,633 13

Investments 23 121 100 198 27

Parts Inventory 1,182 1,258 1,140 1,258

Other Non-Current Assets 84 84 84 84 

Derivative Financial Instruments 102 898 102 898 10

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 112,698 117,705 103,617 117,782

TOTAL ASSETS 143,161 139,640 136,087 135,639 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and Other Payables 6,925 5,563 5,127 4,368 14

Employee Entitlements 16,161 14,490 16,161 14,305

Derivative Financial Instruments 176 819 176 819 10

Loan facility – unsecured 36,000 – 36,000 – 16

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 59,262 20,872 57,464 19,492

NET LONG-TERM BORROWING

Loan Facility – Unsecured – 35,000 – 35,000 16

TOTAL NET LONG-TERM BORROWING – 35,000 – 35,000 

BALANCE SHEET NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)



|  67    airways annual report 2010

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation 9,581 3,583 7,555 3,074 18

Deferred income 21,297 22,525 21,297 22,525

Employee entitlements 6,730 5,514 6,730 5,514 15

Derivative fi nancial instruments 703 334 703 334 10

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 38,311 31,956 36,285 31,447

TOTAL LIABILITIES 97,573 87,828 93,749 85,939

NET ASSETS 45,588 51,812 42,338 49,700

EQUITY 

Share capital 41,100 41,100 41,100 41,100

Reserves (214) 70 (214) 70

Retained earnings 4,702 10,642 1,452 8,530

TOTAL EQUITY 45,588 51,812 42,338 49,700

The Board of Directors of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited authorised these fi nancial statements for issue on
26 August 2010.

CONSTANTINE ANASTASIOU SUSAN PATERSON

Chairman Director

26 August 2010  26 August 2010 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

BALANCE SHEET NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69 to 103.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS NZIFRS

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Receipts from customers 141,656 136,969 148,932 126,393

Interest received 101 248 109 289

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Payments to suppliers (33,100) (32,186) (51,818) (22,081)

Payments to employees (88,264) (84,843) (88,078) (84,803)

Interest paid (1,672) (2,333) (1,647) (2,320)

Goods and services tax (319) (239) 42 (201)

Payment of income tax (546) (544) (546) (205)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES

17,856 17,072 6,994 17,072 29

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Sale of property, plant and equipment 141 78 141 78

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,373) (24,031) 369 (24,031)

Labour costs capitalised 1,970 2,789 90 2,789

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES 

(10,262) (21,164) 600 (21,164)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Drawdown of loan facility 1,000 8,000 1,000 8,000

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Payment of dividends (5,000) (6,000) (5,000) (6,000)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 

(4,000) 2,000 (4,000) 2,000

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HELD 3,594 (2,092) 3,594 (2,092)

Cash at the beginning of the year 1,831 3,923 1,831 3,923

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 5,425 1,831 5,425 1,831
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZIFRS

NOTE 1 REPORTING ENTITY

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.  

The address of its registered offi ce is Level 26, Majestic Centre, 100 Willis St, Wellington, New Zealand. Airways 

Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a State-Owned Enterprise established under the State-Owned Enterprise Act 

1986 with shares held in equal numbers by the Minister for State-Owned Enterprises and the Minister of Finance, on 

behalf of the Crown.

These Group consolidated fi nancial statements are for Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, Airways International Limited (AIL), Airways Training Limited (ATL) and Airways Equipment Limited (AEL). All 

companies are registered under the Companies Act 1993. 

Airways refers to the “Group”:Airways Corporation of New Zealand, as well as its wholly owned subsidiaries. The term 

“Parent” refers to Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited as a separate legal entity.

Airways is designated as a profi t-oriented entity for fi nancial reporting purposes.

Airways principal business is air navigation services within New Zealand.

In addition to this, Airways is involved in International and Domestic growth activities:

i. Maintenance of systems

ii. Consultancy

iii. Training

iv. Aviation related publications, and

v. Software development, sales and implementation.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New 

Zealand. They comply with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and 

other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profi t oriented entities. The Financial Statements 

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The fi nancial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 

1993, Companies Act 1993 and the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

These fi nancial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 August 2010.

(B) BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial statements are consistent with those followed 

in the preparation of the fi nancial statements prepared as at 30 June 2009. 

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modifi ed by the revaluation of derivative 

fi nancial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZIFRS

(C) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of Airways’ entities are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which it operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated fi nancial statements are 

presented in New Zealand dollars, which is Airways’ presentation currency and all values unless otherwise stated are 

rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

(D) USE OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the accounting period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods 

affected.

In particular, information about signifi cant areas of estimation uncertainty, and critical judgements in applying accounting 

policies that have the most signifi cant effect on the amount recognised in the fi nancial statements, are described in the 

following notes:

i Note 3 C – contract revenue

ii Note 3 K and Note 20 – fi nancial instruments

iii Note 3 N – intangible assets

iv Note 3 R and Note 15 – employee entitlements

(E) STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ADOPTED 
BY AIRWAYS.

(i)  NZ IAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of fi nancial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The revised standard 

prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement 

of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in 

equity in a statement of comprehensive income. As a result the company presents in the statement of changes 

in equity all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-owner changes in equity are presented in the statement of 

comprehensive income. Comparative information has been re-presented so that it also is in conformity with the 

revised standard. 

 Airways has applied NZ IAS 1 (revised) from 1 July 2009 and has chosen to present one statement, the statement of 

comprehensive income. As the change impacts presentation only, there is no impact on equity, surplus or loss.

(ii)  NZ IFRS 7 (Amended) ‘Financial instruments – Disclosures’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment 

requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In particular, the amendment requires 

disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy. The change in accounting policy 

only results in additional disclosures. 

(iii)  In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on 

or after 1 January 2009, Airways would capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 

or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. Airways previously recognised all borrowing costs 

as an expense immediately. This change in accounting policy was due to the adoption of NZ IAS 23, ‘Borrowing 

costs’ (Amended). In accordance with the transition provisions of the standard; comparative fi gures have not been 

restated. The change in accounting policy has not had any effect in the current year.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.)
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(iv)  NZ IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate fi nancial statements’, (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised 

standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is 

no change in control. These transactions with no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also 

specifi es the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a 

gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss. Airways adopted NZ IAS 27 (revised) on 1 July 2009. There has been no 

impact on the fi nancial statements.

(F) STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS THAT ARE NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE AND HAVE NOT BEEN EARLY ADOPTED BY AIRWAYS. 

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them: 

(i)  NZ IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2009 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013, with early adoption allowed). NZ IFRS 9 replaces the multiple classifi cation and measurement models in NZ 

IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classifi cation categories: amortised cost and fair value. Classifi cation 

under NZ IFRS 9 will be driven by an entity’s business model for managing the fi nancial assets and the contractual 

characteristics of the fi nancial assets. The Group has not determined when it will adopt NZ IFRS 9. It is not expected 

to have a material impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements.

(ii)  Revised IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009 supersedes IAS 24, ‘Related party 

disclosures’, issued in 2003. The revised IAS 24 is required to be applied from 1 January 2011. Earlier application, in 

whole or in part, is permitted.  Airways has not adopted this revised standard.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(I) SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which Airways has the power to govern the fi nancial 

and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence 

and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether 

Airways controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 

Airways. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Airways. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments used and liability incurred or assumed 

at the exchange rate, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 

irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of Airways’ share 

of the identifi able net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net 

assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly on the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Airways companies are eliminated. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting 

policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by Airways and all subsidiaries share a 30 June balance 

date. The parent recognises its investment in subsidiaries at cost.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT.)
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(II) JOINT VENTURES

Airways interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation. Airways share of 

its joint venture post-acquisition profi ts or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and its share of 

post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted 

against the carrying value of the investment. When Airways share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests 

in the joint venture, including any unsecured receivables, Airways does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 

obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 

(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate 

at balance date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end 

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash fl ow hedges and qualifying net investment 

hedges.

(C) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, excluding Goods and Services Tax, rebates and 

discounts and after eliminating sales within Airways. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Sales of products

Sales of goods are recognised when Airways has delivered a product to the customer. The recorded revenue is the gross 

amount of sale.

(ii) Air service charges and other services

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to 

completion of the specifi c transaction, assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total 

services to be provided.

(iii) Interest Income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(D) CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the 

balance sheet date of the countries where Airways subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 

regulations are subject to interpretation, and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 

to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated fi nancial statements. However, the deferred income 

tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 

combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss. Deferred income tax 

is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and 

are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except 

where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by Airways and it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(E) LEASES

Airways leases certain land, buildings, plant and equipment.

Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased items, are 

included in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(F) IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. Intangible assets that have an indefi nite useful life, including goodwill, are not subject to amortisation 

and are tested annually for impairment irrespective of whether any circumstances identifying a possible impairment 

have been identifi ed. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able 

cash fl ows (cash generating units).

(G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with fi nancial institutions, other short term, 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown 

within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(H) TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for 

impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written 

off. A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Airways will not be able 

to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the average 

cost of capital. The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(I) PARTS INVENTORY

Parts inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost 

basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less applicable variable selling expenses.

(J) INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Airways classifi es its fi nancial assets in the following categories: fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss and 

loans and receivables. The classifi cation depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 

determines the classifi cation of its investments at the initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every 

reporting date.

(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

This category has two sub categories: fi nancial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through 

profi t or loss at inception. A fi nancial asset is classifi ed in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they 

are designated hedges. Assets in this category are classifi ed as current assets if they are either held for trading or are 

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Airways has no fi nancial assets designated at fair 

value through profi t or loss at balance date.

(II) LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. They arise when Airways provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling 

the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the 

balance sheet date which are classifi ed as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in ‘trade and other 

receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

(III) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSESTS

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classifi ed in any 

of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends 

to dispose of it within 12 months at the end of the reporting period. Airways has no available-for-sale fi nancial assets at 

balance date. 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date – the date on which Airways commits to purchase or 

sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all fi nancial assets not carried at 

fair value through profi t or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profi t or loss are initially recognised at fair 

value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. Investments are derecognised 

when the rights to receive cash fl ows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and Airways has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Available for sale fi nancial assets and fi nancial assets 

at fair value through profi t or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held to maturity 

investments are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Realised and unrealised 

gains and losses from changes in the fair value of the ‘fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss’ category are 

included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from fi nancial 

assets at fair value through profi t or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the Group’s right 

to receive payments is established. 

Airways assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or group of 

fi nancial assets is impaired. Refer Note 3(H) and 11.

(K) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Airways uses Forward Exchange Contracts and non-exotic Foreign Currency Options to hedge expenditure and revenue 

denominated in foreign currency. Airways also uses Interest Rate Swaps and Caps to hedge interest repayments on its 

term debt.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-

valued to their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on the nature of the relationship 

between the derivative and the item being hedged. Airways designates certain derivatives as either (i) hedges of highly 

probable forecast transactions (cash fl ow hedges), or (ii) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a 

fi rm commitment (fair value hedges).

At the inception of the transaction, Airways documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 

items as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Airways also 

documents an assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 

hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash fl ows or fair values of 

hedged items.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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(I) CASH FLOW HEDGE

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash fl ow hedges is recognised in equity in 

the hedging reserve. Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income when 

the hedged item affects profi t and loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). Offsetting this, 

when the forecast transaction that is hedged occurs, the gains or losses previously deferred in equity are also transferred 

to the statement of comprehensive income. For forecast items that are fully hedged and 100% effective, the net effect on 

the statement of comprehensive income is neutral (i.e. nil).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge 

relationship but the hedged forecast transaction still is expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point 

remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged 

transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised effect recognised in equity is recognised 

immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

(II) FAIR VALUE HEDGE

The gain or loss changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded 

in the statement of comprehensive income, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that 

are attributable to the hedged risk.

Airways only applies fair value hedge accounting for hedging fi xed interest risk on borrowings. The gain or loss relating to 

the effective portion of interest rate swap hedging fi xed rate borrowings is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income within ‘fi nance costs’. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income within ‘other gains/losses’. 

(L) FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 

disclosure purposes.

The fair value of instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is 

determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make 

assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. 

(M) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(I) RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined by including all costs directly 

associated with bringing the assets to their location in working condition. The value of property, plant and equipment 

includes fi nancing costs. Capital work in progress includes all expenditure to date on all assets partially completed. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 

when it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to Airways and the cost of the item 

can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced parts is written off. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the fi nancial period in which they are incurred. Assets no longer 

required and ultimately intended for sale or disposal are valued at the lower of cost or estimated realisable value. Changes 

in this value are included in the statement of comprehensive income. Gains or losses on the disposal of fi xed assets are 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and are calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds 

and the carrying value of the asset. If the recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is less than its 

carrying amount, the item is written down to its recoverable amount. The write down of an asset recorded at historical cost 

is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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(II) DEPRECIATION

The cost of all fi xed assets (excluding freehold land) less their estimated residual value is written off on a straight line 

basis over the estimated useful economic life of all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and capital 

work in progress. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually to consider factors that may affect economic life including, 

but not limited to:

i. Deterioration through use

ii. The effects of the physical environment

iii. Obsolescence through technological development

iv. Lease terms or other contractual arrangements.

The estimated useful economic lives for the current period are as follows:

DEPRECIATION RANGE ACTUAL WEIGHTED 

AVERAGE

Land not depreciated not depreciated

Buildings:

Freehold 10 – 40 years 24 years

Leasehold 8 – 40 years 20 years

Computers and furniture 3 – 10 years 8 years

Plant and equipment 3 – 20 years 13 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 6 years 5 years

Intangibles 2 – 10 years 8 years

Capital work in progress not depreciated not depreciated

(N) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(I) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

All research and development costs are recognised as an expense when they are incurred except where development 

costs specifi cally attributable to a project are capitalised provided they meet the criteria outlined in NZ IAS 38 Intangible 

Assets.

Capitalised development is not amortised. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually, or immediately should events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(II) COMPUTER SOFTWARE

Acquired computer software costs are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 

specifi c software. These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (three to fi ve years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an incurred expense 

except where the costs are directly associated with the development of identifi able and unique software products 

controlled by Airways, which will probably generate economic benefi ts exceeding costs beyond one year. These are then 

recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the costs of software development employees and an appropriate 

portion of relevant overheads. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight 

line basis over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding ten years).

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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(O) TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Airways prior to the end of the fi nancial year 

that are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. These are measured at 

amortised cost.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method.

(P) BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. Any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate 

method.

In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation is on or 

after 1 January 2009, Airways would capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 

production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset where applicable. There have been no such borrowing 

costs this fi nancial year.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless Airways has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 

for at least 12 months after the balance date.

(Q) PROVISIONS

Provisions for legal claims, service warrantees and rental obligations are recognised when Airways has a present 

legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outfl ow of resources will be 

required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future 

operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outfl ow will be required in settlement is determined 

by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outfl ow with 

respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, using 

a pretax rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specifi c to the obligation. 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(R) EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

A liability for annual leave, long service leave and retiring leave is accrued and recognised in the balance sheet. The 

liability is equal to the present value of the estimated future outfl ows as a result of employee services provided at balance 

date. Where it is necessary, actuarial estimates of future demographic trends and employee remuneration are used to 

calculate these liabilities.

Airways operates various defi ned contribution schemes. The schemes are funded through payments to trustee 

administered funds. A defi ned contribution plan is a superannuation plan under which Airways pays fi xed contributions 

into a separate entity (either Kiwisaver or otherwise). Airways has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 

contributions if the fund does not hold suffi cient assets to pay all employees the benefi ts relating to employee service in 

the current and prior periods.

For defi ned contribution plans, Airways pays contributions to publicly or privately administered superannuation plans on a 

mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Airways has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 

paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefi t expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 

recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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Termination benefi ts are payable when employment is terminated by Airways before the normal retirement date, or 

whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefi ts. Airways recognises termination 

benefi ts when it is demonstrably committed to either: 

(i) terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 

withdrawal; 

(ii) or providing termination benefi ts as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

Benefi ts falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

(S)  SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares issued by Airways are classifi ed as equity and are recognised at fair value less direct issue costs.

(T)  DIVIDENDS

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before balance date but not distributed at balance date.

(U) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income and the cash fl ow statement have been prepared so that all components are 

stated net of GST. All items in the balance sheet are stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables, 

which include GST invoiced.

NOTE 4 OTHER INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Consulting and product revenue 15,103 12,296 65 3,003

Amortisation of deferred income 1,228 1,228 1,228 1,228 23

Management fee received – – 21,106 – 26

Other 4,830 4,746 5,971 5,933

21,161 18,270 28,370 10,164

NOTE 5 EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Wages and salaries, including Group termination 
benefi ts $540k (2009: $114k) and Parent 
termination benefi ts $540k (2009: $114k)

81,671 78,029 81,486 77,987

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 6,836 6,458 6,836 6,458

Leave entitlements expense 2,887 961 3,072 950

91,394 85,448 91,394 85,395

NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
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NOTE 6 OPERATING COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Net surplus before taxation includes the following 
specifi c expenses:

Auditor remuneration 164 139 156 139 7

Bad debts written off/(recovered) 32 (48) 97 (48)

Directors’ fees (including expenses) 280 320 280 320

(Surplus)/defi cit on disposal of assets (12) 266 (17) 266

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 37 (28) 37 (28)

NOTE 7 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers for:

Financial statement audit services as an agent of 
the Offi ce of the Auditor-General 

124 116 116 116

GST return services 20 22 20 22

Cross border lease taxation advise 20 – 20 –

Expatriate taxation services – 1 – 1

164 139 156 139 6

NOTE 8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

(A) RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE TO 
PRIMA FACIE TAX PAYABLE 

Surplus before taxation 6,412 5,610 2,852 6,674

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate of 30% 1,924 1,683 856 2,002

Tax effect of amounts which are either non-
deductible or taxable in calculating taxable income: 

Expenses not deductible for tax 56 74 53 190

Under/(Over) provision in prior periods 11 (742) 13 (706)

Other – 67 – 67

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals – – (1,407) –

Effect of change in tax rate (685) – (541) –

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 6,047 – 5,956 –

TOTAL INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7,353 1,082 4,930 1,553

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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During the year, as a result of the change in the NZ corporate tax rate from 30% to 28% that was enacted on 27 May 

2010 and that will be effective from 1 July 2011, the relevant deferred tax balances have been remeasured. Deferred tax 

expected to reverse in the year to 30 June 2012 or later has been measured using the effective rate that will apply for the 

period (28%).

Buildings are currently depreciated for tax purposes. As a result of the change in tax legislation that was enacted on 

27 May 2010, with effect from 1 July 2011 being the beginning of the 2012 income year, the tax depreciation rate on 

buildings with an estimated useful life of 50 years or more will be reduced to 0%. This reduction in the tax depreciation 

rate has signifi cantly reduced the tax base of the Group’s buildings as future tax deductions will no longer be available 

from the 2011/12 income year. This has resulted in an increase to the deferred tax liability in relation to buildings of 

$6,047,334 which has been recognised in the tax expense in the current year. 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

(B)  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Tax payable in respect of the current year 1,250 1,886 363 2,318 17

Tax (receivable)/payable in respect of previous years (16) (1,357) (36) (775) 17

Deferred tax in respect of current year 729 (128) 546 (125) 18

Deferred tax in respect of previous year 28 615 49 69 18

Other (1) 66 – 66

Write-off of deferred tax on asset disposals – – (1,407) –

Effect of change in tax rate (685) – (541) –

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 6,047 – 5,956 – 18

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7,353 1,082 4,930 1,553

(C)  AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER 
  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the period 
recognised in other comprehensive income but 
directly debited or credited to equity (122) (118) (122) (118) 18

The Group and Parent have no tax losses (2009: 
Nil) and no unrecognised temporary differences 
(2009: Nil) 

(D)  IMPUTATION CREDITS 

Balance as at 1 July 3,085 2,878 3,085 2,878

Taxation paid 546 207 546 207 17

Less attributed dividends (429) – (429) –

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 3,202 3,085 3,202 3,085

At 31 March 2010 Airways had imputation credits available to shareholders of $3.08 million (2009: $2.88 million).

NOTE 8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT.)

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents earned average interest of 2.52 percent (2009 : 3.97 percent). Foreign currency deposits with 

a term of less than one year earned average interest at a rate of 1.47 percent (2009 : 0.44 percent).

CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative fi nancial instruments and deposits with banks as well as 

credit exposures to customers from outstanding receivables. For banks, only parties with a minimum long term Standard 

and Poors rating of A+ or A1 are accepted. 

Credit risk exists within fi nancial transactions at both counterparty and sovereign level. The settlement of transactions 

requires the counterparty to be capable of meeting its fi nancial obligations and the sovereign government allowing the 

transaction to occur. Sovereign risk is generally associated with the settlement of transactions with an offshore entity. 

NOTE 10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

CURRENT ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives – – – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts 604 417 604 417

604 417 604 417

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (8) (92) (8) (92)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (168) (727) (168) (727)

(176) (819) (176) (819)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interest rate derivatives 69 897 69 897

Foreign currency exchange contracts 33 1 33 1

102 898 102 898

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (703) (310) (703) (310)

Foreign currency exchange contracts – (24) – (24)

(703) (334) (703) (334)

TOTAL DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest rate derivatives (642) 495 (642) 495

Foreign currency exchange contracts 469 (333) 469 (333)

(173) 162 (173) 162
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NOTE 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Trade accounts receivable 17,978 14,373 11,499 11,591

Prepayments and other receivables 3,718 2,126 10,957 826

21,696 16,499 22,456 12,417

Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in note 26. 

CREDIT RISK

Airways fi ve largest customers account for 85.94% (2009: 87.03%) of total Airways charges and accounts receivable at 

balance date. No collateral is held over receivables that are mainly due from airline companies. No unusual risk has been 

identifi ed by Airways in relation to these companies. 

Airways overdue not impaired balances at 30 June 2010 totalled $4.90 million (2009: $1.92 million). Parent overdue 

not impaired balances at 30 June 2010 totalled $1.01 million (2009: $0.3 million). Overdue balances are payments not 

received on the due date, which under usual terms are due within 20 days of the month following invoice date. 

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows: 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Overdue 1 – 30 days 1,499 – 849 195

Overdue 31 – 60 days 155 362 57 53

Overdue 61 – 90 days 1,636 659 11 25

Overdue 90 days + 1,606 897 89 57

TOTAL 4,896 1,918 1,006 330

At 30 June 2010, Group receivables of $45,951 (2009: $41,040) were impaired and provided for.  The aging analysis of 

these receivables is as follows:

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Overdue 1 – 30 days – – – –

Overdue 31 – 60 days – – – –

Overdue 61 – 90 days – – – –

Overdue 90 days + 46 41 – –

TOTAL 46 41 – –
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NOTE 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP

LAND 
FREEHOLD

LAND 
LEASEHOLD

BUILDINGS 
FREEHOLD

BUILDINGS 
LEASEHOLD

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTERS 
& FURNITURE

MOTOR 
VEHICLES

WORK IN 
PROGRESS TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2008 6,813 12 11,050 11,698 157,767 33,583 1,582 11,357 233,862

Additions at cost – – 35 60 10,916 1,343 208 20,004 32,566

Deduct disposals – – (7) (162) (377) (869) (191) (12,562) (14,168)

AS AT 30 

JUNE 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2008 – – 6,923 10,381 88,779 19,963 1,151 – 127,197

Charge for period – – 283 162 10,487 3,533 160 – 14,625

Deduct disposals – – (2) (40) (266) (774) (191) – (1,273)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2009 – – 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 – 140,549

NET BOOK 

VALUE AS AT 

30 JUNE 2009 6,813 12 3,874 1,093 69,306 11,335 479 18,799 111,711

COST

As at 1 July 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

Additions at cost – – 5,468 42 6,414 3,551 – 10,315 25,790

Deduct disposals (115) – (22) (16) (2,732) (74) – (17,689) (20,648)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2010 6,698 12 16,524 11,622 171,988 37,534 1,599 11,425 257,402

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2009 – – 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 – 140,549

Charge for period – – 248 304 9,115 3,402 162 – 13,231

Deduct disposals – – (22) (16) (2,722) (70) – – (2,830)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2010 – – 7,430 10,791 105,393 26,054 1,282 – 150,950

NET BOOK 

VALUE AS AT 

30 JUNE 2010 6,698 12 9,094 831 66,595 11,480 317 11,425 106,452
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PARENT

LAND 
FREEHOLD

LAND 
LEASEHOLD

BUILDINGS 
FREEHOLD

BUILDINGS 
LEASEHOLD

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTERS 
& FURNITURE

MOTOR 
VEHICLES

WORK IN 
PROGRESS TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2008 6,813 12 11,050 11,698 157,767 33,583 1,582 11,357 233,862

Additions at cost – – 35 60 10,916 1,343 208 20,004 32,566

Deduct disposals – – (7) (162) (377) (869) (191) (12,562) (14,168)

AS AT 30 

JUNE 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2008 – – 6,923 10,381 88,779 19,963 1,151 – 127,197

Charge for period – – 283 162 10,487 3,533 160 – 14,625

Deduct disposals – – (2) (40) (266) (774) (191) – (1,273)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2009 – – 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 – 140,549

NET BOOK 

VALUE AS AT 

30 JUNE 2009 6,813 12 3,874 1,093 69,306 11,335 479 18,799 111,711

COST

As at 1 July 2009 6,813 12 11,078 11,596 168,306 34,057 1,599 18,799 252,260

Additions at cost – – 5,468 42 6,228 2,425 – 6,236 20,399

Deduct disposals (115) – (395) (38) (8,259) (6,985) (1,403) (14,566) (31,761)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2010 6,698 12 16,151 11,600 166,275 29,497 196 10,469 240,898

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

As at 1 July 2009 – – 7,204 10,503 99,000 22,722 1,120 – 140,549

Charge for period – – 224 303 8,794 2,664 11 – 11,996

Deduct disposals – – (107) (27) (6,696) (4,462) (936) – (12,228)

AS AT 30 JUNE 

2010 – – 7,321 10,779 101,098 20,924 195 – 140,317

NET BOOK 

VALUE AS AT 

30 JUNE 2010 6,698 12 8,830 821 65,177 8,574 1 10,469 100,581

Additions and disposals includes transfers between work in progress and asset classes, and assets written off. 

There are no assets intended for sale in Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Certain assets within the Plant and Equipment are subject to a cross border lease arrangement. The arrangement does 

not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day operations. 

NOTE 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT.) (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)  

GROUP

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE LICENSES TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2008 2,977 1,049 4,026

Additions at cost – 1,550 1,550

Deduct disposals – (28) (28)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2008 561 644 1,205

Charge for period 348 333 681

Deduct disposals – 29 29

AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 909 1,006 1,915

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 2,068 1,565 3,633

COST

As at 1 July 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

Additions at cost 1,455 735 2,190

Deduct disposals – (137) (137)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 4,432 3,169 7,601

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2009 909 1,006 1,915

Charge for period 528 463 991

Deduct disposals – (160) (160)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 1,437 1,309 2,746

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 2,995 1,860 4,855
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PARENT

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE LICENSES TOTAL

COST

As at 1 July 2008 2,977 1,049 4,026

Additions at cost – 1,550 1,550

Deduct disposals – (28) (28)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2008 561 644 1,205

Charge for period 348 333 681

Deduct disposals – 29 29

AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 909 1,006 1,915

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 2,068 1,565 3,633

COST

As at 1 July 2009 2,977 2,571 5,548

Additions at cost 120 209 329

Deduct disposals (2,054) (576) (2,630)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 1,043 2,204 3,247

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

As at 1 July 2009 909 1,006 1,915

Charge for period 158 398 556

Deduct disposals (611) (223) (834)

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 456 1,181 1,637

NET BOOK VALUE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 587 1,023 1,610

NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES      (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Trade accounts payable 1,835 1,482 1,385 1,448

Interest payable 130 142 130 142

Payroll related payables 1,450 1,324 1,450 1,324

Other accrued liabilities 3,083 2,180 1,535 619

Miscellaneous payables 427 435 627 835

TOTAL 6,925 5,563 5,127 4,368

Amounts due to related parties are disclosed in note 26.

NOTE 15 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS  

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Balance Sheet obligations for:

Long service leave 1,159 1,040 1,159 1,040

Retiring leave 5,571 4,474 5,571 4,474

6,730 5,514 6,730 5,514

Statement of Comprehensive Income charge for:

Long service leave 118 45 118 45

Retiring leave 1,097 297 1,097 297

1,215 342 1,215 342

(a) Long service leave

Airways grants employees’ long service leave entitlements based on remuneration and length of service. The specifi c 

entitlements are dependent on individual employment contracts.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for long service leave entitlements are as 

follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Discount rate 6.00% 8.90% 6.00% 8.90%

Infl ation rate 2.50% 2.25% 2.50% 2.25%

Future salary increases 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%
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(b) Retiring leave

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for retiring leave are as follows:

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

Discount rate 6.00% 8.90% 6.00% 8.90%

Infl ation rate 2.50% 2.25% 2.50% 2.25%

Future salary increases 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

(c) Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the overall liability for employee entitlements to changes in principal assumptions is:

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 CHANGE IN ASSUMPTION

INCREASE/(DECREASE) 

IN OVERALL LIABLIITY

Future salary increase to 1.75% (394)

Future salary increase to 3.75% 437

Resignation rates 50% of assumed (9)

Resignation rates 150% of assumed 10

NOTE 16 BORROWINGS 

Airways has two bank funding facilities. The fi rst is a three year term loan and stand-by facility that allows Airways to 

borrow up to $55 million. This facility expires in January 2011. At present Airways has drawn $36 million (2009: $35 

million) of this funding line. The average effective interest rate of the facility was 3.84 percent (2009: 6.11 percent) for the 

year. The second is a short term uncommitted facility that allows Airways to borrow up to $5 million. 

(i) Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining suffi cient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate 

amount of committed credit facilities. 

Short term liquidity management involves the preparation, monitoring and re-forecasting of cash fl ows, effi cient 

management of bank accounts and money market activity, and the guaranteed availability of unutilised credit facilities. 

Long term liquidity risk is managed through Airways long term capital adequacy planning process. Management monitors 

rolling ten year forecasts ensuring our committed credit lines have the provision to accommodate 10% surplus funding 

over and above our projected maximum level of debt, as defi ned in the ten year capital forecast. 

NOTE 15 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS (CONT.)

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)



|  89    airways annual report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZIFRS

NOTE 17 CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLE                       (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GROUP PARENT

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

MOVEMENTS

Balance as at 1 July 2,609 2,594 2,613 2,613

Tax (payable)/receivable in respect of the current year (1,250) (1,886) (363) (2,318) 8

Tax receivable in respect of the previous years 16 1,357 36 775 8

Tax paid during the year 546 544 546 205 8

Tax losses (to)/from entities within the Group (2) – 335 1,338

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 1,919 2,609 3,167 2,613

NOTE 18 DEFERRED TAXATION 

GROUP

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2008 (7,653) 4,475 29 (3,149)  

Deferred tax in respect of previous years 66 (298) (382) (614)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (444) 536 (30) 62

Deferred tax on items charged to other 
comprehensive income – – 118 118

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 (8,031) 4,713 (265) (3,583)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years – (53) 25 (28)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (1,347) 662 (45) (730)

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus (6,047) – – (6,047) 8

Deferred tax on items charged to other 
comprehensive income – – 122 122

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net 
surplus 1,028 (355) 12 685

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (14,397) 4,967 (151) (9,581)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $606,400.
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PARENT

DEPRECIATION PROVISIONS OTHER TOTAL NOTES

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2008 (7,653) 4,439 32 (3,182)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years 66 (102) (32) (68)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus (444) 620 (118) 58

Deferred tax on items charged to other 
comprehensive income – – 118 118

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2009 (8,031) 4,957 – (3,074)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years – (53) 4 (49)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 178 724 (42) 860

Effect of change to tax depreciation on buildings 
charged to net surplus (5,956) – – (5,956) 8

Deferred tax on items charged other 
comprehensive income – – 122 122

Effect of change to income tax rate charged to net 
surplus 921 (375) (5) 541

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 (12,888) 5,253 79 (7,555)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $402,610.

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

AS AT 30 JUNE LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

TOTAL

GROUP 2009

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 – – 1,831

Trade and other receivables 14,373 – – 14,373

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 1,315 – 1,315

TOTAL 16,204 1,315 – 17,519

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings – – 35,000 35,000

Trade and other payables – – 1,482 1,482

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 1,153 – 1,153

TOTAL – 1,153 36,482 37,635

NOTE 18 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT.)      (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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AS AT 30 JUNE LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

TOTAL

GROUP 2010

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 – – 5,425

Trade and other receivables 17,978 – – 17,978

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 706 – 706

TOTAL 23,403 706 – 24,109

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings – – 36,000 36,000

Trade and other payables – – 1,835 1,835

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 879 – 879

TOTAL – 879 37,835 38,714

AS AT 30 JUNE LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

TOTAL

PARENT 2009

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 – – 1,831

Trade and other receivables 11,591 – – 11,591

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 1,315 – 1,315

TOTAL 13,422 1,315 – 14,737

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings – – 35,000 35,000

Trade and other payables – – 1,448 1,448

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 1,153 – 1,153

TOTAL – 1,153 36,448 37,601

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONT.)   (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 



92  | airways annual report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZIFRS

AS AT 30 JUNE LOANS & 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVATIVES 
USED FOR 
HEDGING

LIABILITIES AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

TOTAL

PARENT 2010

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 – – 5,425

Trade and other receivables 11,499 – – 11,499

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 706 – 706

TOTAL 16,924 706 – 17,630

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings – – 36,000 36,000

Trade and other payables – – 1,385 1,385

Derivative fi nancial instruments – 879 – 879

TOTAL – 879 37,385 38,264

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Market Risk

Risk Management is undertaken by management who manage certain fi nancial risks, including foreign currency risk and 

interest rate risk under a Treasury Policy that is approved by the Board of Directors. 

(i) Capital Risk Management

Airways objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 

returns for Shareholders, benefi ts for other stakeholders, and to maintain an appropriate capital structure. In order to 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, Airways may adjust the amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, return capital 

to Shareholders, increase or reduce debt, sell assets, or reduce capital expenditure.

(ii) Currency Risk 

Airways is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of revenue contracts, capital expenditure and operational 

expenditure denominated in foreign currencies. The currencies in which Airways primarily deals are US Dollar, Euro, 

Pounds Sterling, Australian Dollar, Omani Rial, Kuwaiti Dinar and the Japanese Yen. The Treasury Policy requires that 

foreign currency exposures greater than NZD 20,000 are hedged. Foreign exchange instruments approved under the 

policy are forward exchange contracts and currency options.  The Treasury Policy also allows small foreign currency bank 

balances to be held to hedge lower value foreign currency transactions of less than NZD 20,000. 

As at 30 June 2010, Airways has entered into forward exchange contracts to sell the equivalent of $NZ15.92 million 

(2009: $8.09 million) and to buy the equivalent of $NZ3.99 million (2009: $NZ3.59 million). 

NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONT.)   (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated) 
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AS AT 30 JUNE

FEC BUYS FEC SELLS

NOTES2010 2009 2010 2009

FOREIGN CURRENCY

AUD 1,445 128 874 486

EUR 378 778 – –

GBP – 37 – –

JPY – – 294 276

SGD – – 213 –

USD 2,169 2,646 14,543 7,329

TOTAL 3,992 3,589 15,924 8,091

These contracts are hedging committed or highly probable forecast contracted revenue streams, capital expenditure 

and operational expenditure. The contracts are timed to mature when the transaction is scheduled to be settled. Where 

forward contracts have been designated and tested as an effective hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 

instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. When the contracts are settled, 

these gains or losses are recorded against the underlying revenue stream, capital expenditure item, or operational 

expenditure. 

Where forward contracts are not designated and therefore not tested as an effective hedge, the gain or loss on the 

forward contract is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a foreign exchange gain or loss. At balance 

date, there were no contracts that had not been designated as effective hedges (2009: Nil). 

(iii) Interest rate risk

Airways interest rate risk arises from short and long term borrowings typically incurred to fi nance major capital projects. 

Borrowings are at variable rates, exposing Airways to interest rate risk. The objective of Airways interest rate risk 

management policy is to ensure that Airways profi tability is not exposed to material fl uctuations in interest rates. Airways 

monitors interest rates on an on-going basis and uses swaps and caps, forward rate agreements and interest rate 

options to reduce Airways’ exposure to adverse movements in interest rates. The Treasury Policy required Airways to 

hedge its interest rate risk applying the principles of mean reversion, within the following control limits: 

INTEREST RATES HEDGE LIMITS MAXIMUM TERM

> 9.90% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate caps/options 3 years

Between 7.0 and 9.9% Up to 25% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps and up to 65% 
using interest rate caps/options

5 years 

Between 6.0 and 7.0% Between 25% and 50% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps, 
and up to 25% using interest rate caps/options 

7 years 

< 6.0% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps 10 years

The following maximum hedge limits apply to the coverage levels above: 

1 – 3 years: 90% of forecast debt

3 – 5 years: The greater of 75% of forecast debt and core debt

6 – 10 years: core debt

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)     (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)

As at 30 June 2010, Airways had $15 million of interest rate swaps (2009: $8 million) and $10 million of interest rate caps 

(2009: $10 million). 

(iv) Liquidity Risk

Refer to note 16 for discussion on liquidity risk. Further analysis for liquidity risk is provided in the maturity table below. 

Maturity Table 

The table below analyses Airways fi nancial asset and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 

period at the balance date to the maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 

cash fl ows. 

AS AT 30 JUNE 

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETWEEN 
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 YEARS

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

GROUP 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 – – – –

Trade and other receivables 14,373 – – – –

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow – – – 443 945

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (147) (139) (119) – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 5,034 1,566 1,491 – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,446) (116) (27) – –

Trade and other payables (1,482) – – – –

Term loan (544) (544) (35,631) – –

Financial guarantee contracts (1,943) – – – –

TOTAL 13,676 767 (34,286) 443 945

AS AT 30 JUNE 

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETWEEN 
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 YEARS

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

GROUP 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 – – – –

Trade and other receivables 17,978 – – – –

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow – – – – 207

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (86) (126) (323) (277) –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 10,494 5,333 96 – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,005) (274) (713) – –

Trade and other payables (1,835) – – – –

Term loan (552) (36,092) – – –

Financial guarantee contracts (1,889) – – – –

TOTAL 26,530 (31,159) (940) (277) 207

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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AS AT 30 JUNE 

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETWEEN 
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 YEARS

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

PARENT 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 – – – –

Trade and other receivables 11,591 – – – –

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow – – – 443 945

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (147) (139) (119) – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 5,034 1,566 1,491 – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,446) (116) (27) – –

Trade and other payables (1,448) – – – –

Term loan (544) (544) (35,631) – –

Financial guarantee contracts (1,943) – – – –

TOTAL 10,928 767 (34,286) 443 945

AS AT 30 JUNE 

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETWEEN 
6 MTHS 

& 1 YEAR

BETWEEN 
1 & 2 YEARS

BETWEEN 
2 & 5 YEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
YEARS

PARENT 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 – – – –

Trade and other receivables 11,499 – – – –

Interest rate derivatives – infl ow – – – – 207

Interest rate derivatives – outfl ow (86) (126) (323) (277) –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – infl ow* 10,494 5,333 96 – –

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outfl ow* (3,005) (274) (713) – –

Trade and other payables (1,385) – – – –

Term loan (552) (36,092) – – –

Financial guarantee contracts (1,889) – – – –

TOTAL 20,501 (31,159) (940) (277) 207

* The fl ows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts. 

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)                  (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The table below illustrates what the impact on the profi t after tax and total equity would have been if the market risk 

factors had moved by the percentage indicated, assuming all other factors had stayed the same. The reasonably possible 

movements in market risk factors have been identifi ed as 100 basis point interest rates movement and 10% movement of 

the New Zealand Dollar against all other currencies. These factors were identifi ed given historical market risk movements 

experienced by Airways

. 

INTEREST RATES CARRYING AMOUNT

DOWN - 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

GROUP 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 (18) (18) 18 18

Term loan – hedged (18,000) – – – –

Term loan – unhedged (17,000) 170 170 (170) (170)

Interest rate derivatives 495 – (1,187) – 1,088

GROUP 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 (54) (54) 54 54

Term loan – hedged (15,000) – – – –

Term loan – unhedged (21,000) 210 210 (210) (210)

Interest rate derivatives (643) – (1,326) – 1,244

INTEREST RATES CARRYING AMOUNT

DOWN - 100 BASIS POINTS UP + 100 BASIS POINTS

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

PARENT 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 1,831 (18) (18) 18 18

Term loan – hedged (18,000) – – – –

Term loan – unhedged (17,000) 170 170 (170) (170)

Interest rate derivatives 495 – (1,187) – 1,088

PARENT 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 5,425 (54) (54) 54 54

Term loan – hedged (15,000) – – – –

Term loan – unhedged (21,000) 210 210 (210) (210)

Interest rate derivatives (643) – (1,326) – 1,244

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE CARRYING AMOUNT

DOWN - 10% UP + 10%

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

GROUP 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 809 81 81 (81) (81)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) (333) – (480) – 361

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,930 193 193 (193) (193)

GROUP 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 1,161 116 116 (116) (116)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 469 – (1,211) – 983

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 2,753 275 275 (275) (275)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CARRYING AMOUNT

DOWN - 10% UP + 10%

PROFIT EQUITY PROFIT EQUITY

PARENT 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 809 81 81 (81) (81)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) (333) – (480) – 361

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,930 193 193 (193) (193)

PARENT 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 1,161 116 116 (116) (116)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 469 – (1,211) – 983

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 2,753 275 275 (275) (275)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

For those instruments recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, fair values are determined according to the following 

hierarchy: 

(i) Quoted market price – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. 

(ii) Valuation technique using observable inputs – Financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in 

active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and fi nancial instruments 

valued using models where all signifi cant inputs are observable. 

(iii) Valuation techniques with signifi cant non-observable inputs – Financial instruments valued using models where on or 

more signifi cant inputs are not observable. 

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)                  (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of fi nancial instruments measured at fair value on the 

balance sheet: 

AS AT 30 JUNE

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

TOTAL

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

QUOTED 
MARKET 

PRICE
OBSERVABLE 

INPUTS

SIGNIFICANT 
NON-

OBSERVABLE 
INPUTS

GROUP 2010

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives – 69 – 69

Foreign currency exchange contracts – 637 – 637

TOTAL ASSETS – 706 – 706

LIABILITIES     

Interest rate derivatives – (711) – (711)

Foreign currency exchange contracts  – (168)  – (168)

TOTAL LIABILITIES – (879) – (879)

PARENT 2010

ASSETS     

Interest rate derivatives – 69 – 69

Foreign currency exchange contracts – 637 – 637

TOTAL ASSETS – 706 – 706

LIABILITIES     

Interest rate derivatives – (711) – (711)

Foreign currency exchange contracts  – (168)  – (168)

TOTAL LIABILITIES – (879) – (879)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values for each class of fi nancial instruments: 

(i)  The carrying values of cash, current receivables, current payables and term loan are equivalent to their fair values.

(ii)  Derivatives Fair Values

1.  Forward Exchange Contracts values are determined using observable forward exchange market rates at the 

balance date.

2.  Interest Rate Swaps are valued using the “Projected” methodology as follows. For fl oating rates this method 

projects all future fl oating cash fl ows and discounts this back to the revaluation date. For fi xed rates, the individual 

cash fl ows are discounted from the cash fl ow date to the revaluation date. The discount rate used to calculate the 

NPV of the deal is the zero coupon curve, based on a blended swaps curve obtained from Reuters.

3.  Foreign Exchange Options are valued using the Garman and Kohlhagen option valuation model. The model 

uses a function of the current spot rate, the strike rate of the option, current interest rates, the amount of time 

remaining to maturity and current option volatility rates. The resulting value is compared to the strike rate of the 

option to attain a gain or loss amount.

NOTE 20 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 21 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The table below illustrates the total capital commitments for Group and Parent at balance date. 

Airways will fund this programme through operating cash fl ow and increase debt (whilst remaining within current loan 

facilities and covenants). 

AS AT 30 JUNE

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Total capital commitments 6,397 8,402 5,737 8,402

NOTE 22 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:

GROUP PARENT

2010 2009 2010 2009

Less than one year 3,503 3,430 3,503 3,430

One to two years 3,203 3,248 3,203 3,248

Two to fi ve years 8,625 7,169 8,625 7,169

Over fi ve years 8,130 11,038 8,130 11,038

TOTAL OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATIONS 23,461 24,885 23,461 24,885

These lease commitments relate to both unsigned leases under negotiation, and signed leases. Management has 

estimated future lease commitments for unsigned leases, based on the most recent lease negotiations. The Group leases 

various land, buildings, IT hardware and equipment under non cancellable operating lease agreements. Lease terms are 

between two and twenty one years and most agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period. 

NOTE 23 OTHER LEASES

During 2003 and 2004 Airways entered into a cross border lease of certain equipment associated with the Skyline 

Air Traffi c Management System and Surveillance Systems. The arrangement is for 24 years and expires in 2027. The 

arrangement does not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect the ability to use them in day-to-day 

operations. 

A guarantee fee was received that will be recognised over the period of the lease. An amount of $1,228,333 (2009: 

$1,228, 333) has been recognised in the current year and the unrecognised amount is disclosed as deferred revenue. 

Airways provided certain guarantees and indemnities to various participants in the cross border transaction. If certain 

events occur, Airways could be liable to make additional payments. The underlying exposures against which these 

guarantees and indemnities have been provided are substantial. The Directors believe, based on external advice, 

that unless exceptional, extreme and unlikely circumstances arise, Airways will not be required to make signifi cant 

payments under these guarantees and indemnities. The likelihood of losses in respect of these guarantees is 

considered to be remote. 

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has contingent liabilities in respect to fi nancial guarantee contracts of $1.9 million (2009: $1.9 million) in 

addition to those identifi ed in note 23 and note 27. 

NOTE 25 GROUP ENTITIES AND OWNERSHIP

Airways is a state owned enterprise, wholly owned by the New Zealand Government. Its shareholders are the Minister 

of Finance and the Minister of State Owned Enterprises. Airways International Limited, Airways Equipment Limited and 

Airways Training Limited are wholly owned by Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited. 

COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

PERCENTAGE 

SHAREHOLDING 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Airways International Limited New Zealand 100% Air Navigation Services, maintenance of 
systems, consultancy and training

Airways Equipment Limited New Zealand 100% A participant in a cross border lease 
transaction entered into by Airways

Airways Training Limited New Zealand 100% Holding company 

Aviation English Services New Zealand 50% Aviation English Training Joint Venture 

During the period the Parent’s investment in Airways Training Limited was written down by $98,038 (2009: $564,116). 

This is shown in the statement of comprehensive income.

NOTE 26 RELATED PARTIES

The Parent assumes responsibility for the tax liability of Airways International Limited $2,483,359 (2009: $439,403 

tax credit).

A management fee was charged to Airways International Limited by the Parent of $21,106,202 (2009: $4,509,950), and 

$6,663,509 of fi xed assets were transferred at NBV on the 1 July 2010 (2009: Nil).

Airways International Limited charged the Parent a management fee of $21,106,202 (2009: Nil) 

The Parent was charged a rental fee by Airways Equipment Limited of $1,213,350 (2009: $1,213,350) and received a 

management fee of $1,200,000 (2009: $1,200,000) from Airways Equipment Limited. 

Airways enters into a large number of transactions with government departments, Crown entities, State-owned 

enterprises and other entities controlled or subject to signifi cant infl uence by the Crown. These transactions are not 

separately disclosed where they are conducted on normal commercial terms and result from the normal dealings of 

the parties.

GROUP PARENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2010 2009 2010 2009

KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

Salaries and other short-term employee benefi ts 1,739 1,747 1,739 1,747

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 71 59 71 59

1,810 1,806 1,810 1,806

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2010 2009 2010 2009

DIRECTORS FEES

Directors Fees paid 259 294 259 294

INTERCOMPANY BALANCES 

Aviation English Services – Joint Venture 71 45 27 45

Airways International Limited – – 10,506 465

Airways Equipment Limited – – (168) (158)

INTERCOMPANY LOAN 

Airways Training Limited – – 134 210

SHAREHOLDERS

Dividends paid 5,000 6,000 5,000 6,000

A provision for doubtful debts of $75,841 was recognised during the year on related party balances (2009: Nil) due to the 

Parent. Refer to note 27 for amounts written-off by the Group in respect of the Joint Venture.

NOTE 27 JOINT VENTURE AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

JOINT VENTURE

Airways has a 50% participating interest in an aviation english training Joint Venture. Under the Joint Venture, profi ts and 

losses are shared equally. The Joint Venture runs its operation under the name Aviation English Services. 

GROUP PARENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2010 2009 2010 2009

INCOME STATEMENT  

The Group’s 50% share of operating revenues and expenses 
for the year, equity accounted, was:

Revenue 212 164 – –

Expenses (386) (341) – –

NET CONTRIBUTION TO OPERATING SURPLUS (174) (177) – –

Airways’ share of the Joint Venture’s recognised revenue and expenses has been recognised as a reduction in the 

carrying value of the investment of $98,038 (2009: $176,958) and a reduction in the Airways’ receivable from the Joint 

Venture of $75,841 (2009: Nil).

Under the Joint Venture, Airways is jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the Joint Venture. Airways’ maximum 

potential exposure in this regard is 100% of the Joint Venture’s obligations. No provision has been recognised in respect 

of these obligations.

NOTE 26 RELATED PARTIES (CONT.)       (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZIFRS
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GROUP PARENT

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010 2009 2010 2009

BALANCE SHEET

The Group’s 50% share of the balance sheet , was:

CURRENT ASSETS 

Trade receivables 40 1 – –

Other current assets – 8 – –

40 9 – –

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible assets 165 329 – –

Other – 1 – –

165 330 – –

SHARE OF TOTAL ASSETS INCLUDED IN GROUP 205 339 – –

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Bank (142) (127) – –

Trade creditors – (56) – –

Accrued liabilities (69) – – –

Loan – Airways (105) (105) – –

(316) (288) – –

NET ASSETS EMPLOYED IN THE JOINT VENTURE  (111) 51 – –

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE

Balance as at 1 July 98 275 – –

Joint Venture investment – – – –

Share of recognised revenues and expenses (98) (177) – –

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE – 98 – –

OTHER INVESTMENTS

Investment subsidiaries – – 100 198

Other investments 23 23 – –

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 23 121 100 198

NOTE 28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no signifi cant events occurring since balance date requiring disclosure. 

NOTE 27 JOINT VENTURE AND 
OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONT.) (ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 29 RECONCILIATION OF THE NET CASH FLOW 
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO REPORTED SURPLUS 

GROUP PARENT

NOTESFOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 2009 2010 2009

NET (LOSS)/SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION (941) 4,528 (2,078) 5,121

ADD NON CASH ITEMS 

Accounting (surplus)/loss on sale of fi xed assets (12) 266 (17) 266 6

Amortisation 991 681 556 681 13

Depreciation 13,231 14,625 11,996 14,625 12

Investment impairment – – 98 564

Share of loss from Joint Venture 174 177 – – 27

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS FOR ITEMS IN 

SURPLUS NOT IMPACTING CASH FLOW 

14,384 15,749 12,633 16,136

ADD MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

Increase/(decrease) in payables 7,829 (2,879) (3,438) (4,299)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (3,417) (326) (123) 114

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT IN 

SURPLUS IMPACTING CASH FLOW 

4,412 (3,205) (3,561) (4,185)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES

17,855 17,072 6,994 17,072

(ALL fi gures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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TO THE READERS OF AIRWAYS CORPORATION OF NEW ZEALAND LIMITED AND GROUP’S FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited, (the “Company”) and the Group 

comprising the Company and its subsidiaries. The Auditor-General has appointed me, Fred Hutchings, using the staff 

and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the fi nancial statements of the Company and Group, 

on her behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2010.

UNQUALIFIED OPINION

In our opinion:

» The fi nancial statements of the Company and Group on pages 62 to 103:

» comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and give a true and fair view of:

 − the Company and Group’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2010; and

 − the results of operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date.

» Based on our examination the Company kept proper accounting records.

The audit was completed on 27 August 2010, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed. The basis of the opinion 

is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Auditor, and explain our 

independence. 

BASIS OF OPINION

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 

New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to 

obtain reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements did not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud 

or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 

understanding of the fi nancial statements.  If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would 

have referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the fi nancial statements. We assessed the 

results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

» determining whether signifi cant fi nancial and management controls are working and can be relied on to   

produce complete and accurate data;

» verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

» performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

» reviewing signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Board of Directors;

» confi rming year-end balances;

» determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

» determining whether all fi nancial statement disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the fi nancial statements. 

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the fi nancial statements. We obtained all the 

information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDITOR

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practice in New Zealand. Those fi nancial statements must give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position 
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of the Company and Group as at 30 June 2010. They must also give a true and fair view of the results of operations 

and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the State-Owned 

Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements and reporting that opinion to you. 

This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19 (1) of the State-Owned Enterprises 

Act 1986.

INDEPENDENCE

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 

independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of other assurance services, which are compatible 

with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and these assignments, we have no relationship with or 

interests in the Company or Group.

Fred Hutchings      PricewaterhouseCoopers

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand

MATTERS RELATING TO THE ELECTRONIC PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This audit report relates to the fi nancial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited and Group for the 

year ended 30 June 2010 included on the Company’s website. The Company’s Board is responsible for the maintenance 

and integrity of the Company’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Company’s website. 

We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the fi nancial statements since they were initially 

presented on the website. 

The audit report refers only to the fi nancial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 

information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the fi nancial statements. If readers of this report are concerned 

with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the 

audited fi nancial statements as well as the related audit report dated 26 August 2010 to confi rm the information included 

in the audited fi nancial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of fi nancial information may differ from legislation 

in other jurisdictions.
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DIRECTORS INSURANCE

Airways has arranged Director’s and Offi cer’s Liability Insurance which includes cover for Directors against loss from any 

claims made against them arising from acts in their capacity as Directors. Certain actions are specifi cally excluded.

Directors Fees paid 1 July 2009 – 30 June 2010

DIRECTOR AMOUNT

C Anastasiou $58,000

S Paterson $36,250

A Briscoe $29,000

C Ellison (retired 30 October 2009) $9,667

H Hipango (retired 30 October 2009) $9,667

S Huria (appointed 1 January 2010) $7,250

T Murdoch $29,000

D Park (appointed 1 January 2010) $14,500

S Putt $29,000

G Reeves $21,750

TOTAL $244,084

Note: The above schedule of Directors Fees represents the actual date of payment over the period and therefore may not 

refl ect annualised fees payable. 

Total Remuneration over $100,000

REMUNERATION BAND TOTAL STAFF EXECUTIVE/

SENIOR 

MANAGERS 

OPERATIONAL 

STAFF

$100,000 – $110,000 60 – 60

$110,000 – $120,000 57 – 57

$120,000 – $130,000 57 2 55

$130,000 – $140,000 65 2 63

$140,000 – $150,000 51 2 49

$150,000 – $160,000 67 2 65

$160,000 – $170,000 64 5 59

$170,000 – $180,000 41 2 39

$180,000 – $190,000 12 1 11

$190,000 – $200,000 4 2 2

$210,000 – $220,000 1 1 –

$230,000 – $240,000 1 1 –

$250,000 – $260,000 1 1 –

$260,000 – $270,000 3 3 –

$270,000 – $280,000 1 1 –

$460,000 – $470,000 1 1 –

486 26 460
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“Airways new brand acknowledges the key role we play in NZ’s economy. 
Our business is ultimately all about people-to-people ties and the 
movement of people and goods around the world. 

We make the world possible because we are connected to the people 
and communities where we work, because we are active participants in 
the aviation industry and because we are visionary – we work with the 
future in mind.”

- Ashley Smout, 
Brand Ambassador

Making your world possible.



In order to raise the profi le of our brand to support international 

marketing and local recruitment, Airways underwent a brand 

refresh process in 2010. The result: a simple brand statement 

that is intrinsic to both our vision and mission statements; it is 

the (very simple) embodiment of both.

Our new brand brings to life the infrastructure role that 

underpins so much of what modern society takes for granted 

- movement by air. Airways role makes air travel possible - 

it’s not the only bit; it may not even be the most important bit, 

but without us, it couldn’t and wouldn’t happen.
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